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According to Article 16(2) of Regulation (EU) 2015/1017, “The EIB, in cooperation with the EIF where appropriate, shall 
submit an annual report to the European Parliament and to the Council on EIB financing and investment operations 
covered by this Regulation”. The present report, which addresses all the points mentioned in this Article, addresses this 
legal requirement. 
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I. INTRODUCTION

A. EFSI as part of the Investment Plan for Europe 

The European Fund for Strategic Investment (EFSI), for which the Regulation was adopted by the European 
Parliament and the Council in July 2015 (hereafter the EFSI Regulation)1, is one of the three pillars of the 
Investment Plan for Europe (IPE). The IPE was proposed by the European Commission in November 2014 as 
a response to the fact that, since the start of the crisis, investment within the EU had dropped by 15% since 
its peak in 2007. This had left an investment gap estimated at EUR 430 bn in 20132. Furthermore, it was 
considered that, by catalysing investment, in particular private investment, and by increasing access to 
financing for companies, this investment gap could be reduced. Additional investment would boost growth, 
competitiveness and job creation in the European Union. Overall, EFSI is expected to mobilise additional 
investments in the order of EUR 315bn.  

The EFSI, the financial pillar of the IPE, is accompanied by two additional pillars. The second pillar is 
dedicated to support investment in the real economy, by improving the transparency for investors as 
regards projects in need for financing and by strengthening the provision of advisory services to project 
promoters. The European Investment Project Portal and the European Investment Advisory Hub (EIAH) 
have been established to help investment finance reach the real economy. The project portal will help 
potential investors to find information about each project and investment opportunities. The hub provides 
technical assistance and support. EIAH bundles together existing EIB technical assistance programmes and 
provides additional advisory services for cases not covered by existing programmes.  

The third pillar of the IPE focuses on enabling an investment friendly environment in Europe, identifying and 
removing barriers at EU and national levels in order to facilitate investments. 

This report focuses only on the implementation of EFSI by the European Investment Bank (EIB) Group – the 
EIB and the European Investment Fund (EIF) – in 2015, in line with the reporting requirements set in Article 
16(2) of the EFSI Regulation. 

B. Main principles of EFSI implementation 

The implementation of EFSI has been entrusted to the EIB Group, through an EU Guarantee (EUR 16 bn) 
complemented by the EIB’s contribution (EUR 5 bn) provided from its own resources (see Figure 1). These 
financial contributions are substantially increasing the risk bearing capacity of the EIB Group and allow the 
EIB Group to complement its traditional lending and to finance higher risk EFSI projects in line with EFSI 
objectives. This will help overcome market gaps or sub-optimal investment situations in financing and 
implementing strategic, transformative and productive investments with high economic, environmental and 
societal added value contributing to achieving Union policy objectives. With the support of EFSI, the EIB 
Group aims to provide an immediate boost to the Union economy and to improve the access to financing 
and the competitiveness of enterprises and other entities, with a particular focus on small and medium-
sized enterprises (SMEs) and small Midcap companies3, with the aim of reducing unemployment levels and 
boosting growth in the Union. In order to implement these objectives, EFSI is based on two windows: the 
Investment and Innovation Window (IIW) managed by the EIB and the SME Window (SMEW) managed by 
the EIF. 

                                                      
1 Regulation (EU) 2015/1017 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 June 2015 on the European Fund for Strategic 

Investments, the European Investment Advisory Hub and the European Investment Project Portal and amending Regulations (EU) No 
1291/2013 and (EU) No 1316/2013 — the European Fund for Strategic Investments. 

2 European Commission, Why Does EU Need an Investment Plan, http://ec.europa.eu/priorities/sites/beta-political/files/factsheet1-
why_en.pdf 

3 The EIB defines SMEs as enterprises with fewer than 250 employees, small Midcaps as enterprises with a minimum of 250 and fewer 
than 500 employees, and Midcaps as enterprises with a minimum of 500 and a maximum of 3,000 employees. 

http://ec.europa.eu/priorities/sites/beta-political/files/factsheet1-why_en.pdf
http://ec.europa.eu/priorities/sites/beta-political/files/factsheet1-why_en.pdf
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In line with the EFSI Regulation, projects and companies supported via EFSI, i.e. where the EIB Group’s 
involvement benefits from the EFSI Guarantee, are included as part of the EIB Group operations. Therefore 
these operations follow the EIB Group’s standard procedures, in particular for the strict assessment of 
projects, and are approved by the EIB Group’s governance structures. As far as the IIW is concerned, the EIB 
internal approval process was supplemented by an additional approval step, by the EFSI Investment 
Committee (IC), for the inclusion of EIB operations in the portfolio of projects supported by the EFSI 
guarantee. EFSI operations are fully supported on the EIB’s own balance sheet.  

Figure 1. EFSI structure 

 

C. EFSI objectives 

EFSI aims to support investments as well as to increase access to finance (Article 3 of the EFSI Regulation), 
for projects and companies faced with market failures and sub-optimal investment situations, striving to 
support employment and sustainable growth. EFSI projects need to demonstrate they are economically and 
technically sound, consistent with Union policies and support any of the general objectives set in Article 9 of 
the EFSI Regulation, provide additionality, and maximise, where possible, the mobilisation of private sector 
capital. In addition, in line with EIB’s Group internal policies, EFSI projects need to meet the EIB’s criteria for 
eligibility and bankability. 

Additionality is a key feature of EFSI operations. EFSI should ensure additionality by helping address market 
failures or sub-optimal investment situations and by supporting operations which could not have been 
carried out in the period during which the EFSI guarantee can be used, or not to the same extent, by the 
EIB, the EIF or under existing Union financial instruments without EFSI support. For that purpose, EFSI 
should typically target projects with a higher risk profile than projects supported by EIB normal operations. 
According to Article 5(1) of the EFSI Regulation, projects supported by EFSI shall be considered to provide 
additionality if they carry a risk corresponding to the EIB’s “Special Activities”, as defined in Article 16 of the 
EIB Statute and by the EIB’s Credit Risk Policy Guidelines (CRPG). EIB projects carrying a risk lower than the 
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minimum risk under the EIB’s “Special Activities” may also be supported by EFSI if the use of the EU 
guarantee is required to address market failures or sub-optimal investment situations and to support 
operations which could not have been carried out or not to the same extent without the use of the EFSI 
guarantee. 

In order to reach the EFSI objectives, under the IIW and the SMEW, EIB and EIF, respectively, are expected 
to offer a wide range of products. These products can be those which were offered before EFSI or be newly 
designed and developed for the purpose of EFSI. The EIB’s internal CRPGs have been revised in order to 
allow the EIB to propose new products and reach new counterparts, in line with the EFSI objectives. Direct 
beneficiaries of the products offered under the IIW can be of many types, such as large corporates, public 
enterprises, SMEs and Midcaps, financial institutions, such as National Promotional Banks and Institutions 
(NPBs) or Investment Platforms (IPs), as defined by the EFSI Regulation4. Funds extended under the IIW can 
be either directly or indirectly channelled to project promoters. Under the SMEW, operations always 
involve financial intermediaries with the view for the latter to be able to increase their level of financing to 
SMEs and small Midcaps. EIB and EIF are explicitly expected, under EFSI, to cooperate with NPBs and to 
invest in or co-invest with IPs, bringing together a variety of third parties, locally or between countries. 

D. EIB Group reporting on EFSI 

The implementation of EFSI and in particular the compliance with the objectives set in the Regulation must 
be reported on an annual basis to the European Parliament and the Council. This Report covers the EIB 
Group financing and investment operations approved under EFSI and signed during 2015. The scope of the 
report is described in Article 16(2) of the EFSI Regulation. 

Annual reports presented by the EIB to the Parliament and the Council will be based on signed operations, 
in order to be able to provide reliable figures, in particular on indicators such as the mobilisation of private 
resources, the combination with European Structural and Investment Funds, leverage effects, as these 
figures cannot be known before co-financiers finalise their contribution to EFSI projects. Moreover, in line 
with the EFSI Regulation, figures in the financial annual reports are audited by independent external 
evaluators.  

The annual reports by the EIB to the Parliament and the Council therefore differ from the more regular 
updates provided by the EIB Group on its website, namely after each EIB Board meeting. These updates are 
based on projects approved by the EFSI Investment Committee and the EIB Board or the EIF Board and 
therefore include projects which are not yet signed and for which detailed co-financing arrangements are 
not yet known. 

The update on the implementation of EFSI on the basis of approved projects as at the time of finalising this 
report, i.e. as at 17 June 2016, is presented in the last part of this report. 

 

                                                      
4  The EFSI Steering Board subsequently adopted “Rules applicable to operations with investment platforms and national promotional 

banks or institutions” in this regard. These Rules are available: 
http://www.eib.org/attachments/strategies/efsi_steering_board_rules_applicable_to_operations_with_investment_platforms_and
_npbs_or_institutions_en.pdf  

http://www.eib.org/attachments/strategies/efsi_steering_board_rules_applicable_to_operations_with_investment_platforms_and_npbs_or_institutions_en.pdf
http://www.eib.org/attachments/strategies/efsi_steering_board_rules_applicable_to_operations_with_investment_platforms_and_npbs_or_institutions_en.pdf
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II. KEY RESULTS OF EFSI IMPLEMENTATION IN 2015 

The EIB Group started its investment activities under EFSI in spring 2015, even before the legislative 
framework was in place, allowing for a swift implementation of the IPE. A transition period was put in place, 
with the European Commission fulfilling the obligations of the EFSI Investment Committee and giving the 
authorisation to include EIF instruments and the projects approved by the EIB Board into the EFSI guaranteed 
portfolio. During 2015, the EIB Group started “warehousing” projects eligible for the EU coverage under EFSI 
and approved more than 170 transactions in 22 EU Member States. These transactions are expected to trigger 
close to EUR 60 bn of related investment, representing almost a fifth of the target of EUR 315 bn of investment 
to be reached by mid-2018 (see Figure 2). The market absorption has been particularly quick under the SMEW, 
reflecting a strong interest from intermediary institutions across the EU to provide finance to SMEs. The 
detailed lists of projects under both EFSI windows are accessible to the public5.   

Figure 2. 

 

The EIB Group delivered on a number of concrete actions to efficiently implement EFSI at a fast pace. In 
particular, as mentioned above, to make full use of the additional risk bearing capacity provided by EFSI, the 
EIB developed various new products allowing for higher risk taking, such as subordinated debt, equity-type 
financing, risk-sharing instruments with banks, and reviewed its CRPGs to allow for increased flexibility, 
including higher risk limits. The EIB also adapted its own rules as regards the eligibility of projects, in order for 
the EIB eligibility to correspond to the eligible sectors as per EFSI Regulation. Moreover, in order to be able to 
address the additional volume of activities linked to EFSI, and also to the set-up of the Advisory Hub, the EIB 
Group undertook an unprecedented recruitment campaign. 

                                                      
5  For the Infrastructure and Innovation Window, the list of approved projects is available at   

http://www.eib.org/efsi/efsi-projects/index.htm.  
For the SME window, the list of agreements signed with intermediaries is available at http://www.eif.org/what_we_do/efsi/index.htm.  

http://www.eib.org/efsi/efsi-projects/index.htm
http://www.eif.org/what_we_do/efsi/index.htm
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Governance 

During 2015, the EFSI Steering Board6, one of EFSI governance structures foreseen under Article 7 of the EFSI 
Regulation, was efficiently set in place already in July 2015, soon after the adoption of the EFSI Regulation by 
the European Parliament and the Council and the signature of the EFSI Agreement between EIB and the 
European Commission referred to in the EFSI Regulation. The EFSI Steering Board governs the implementation 
of EFSI for the purpose of ensuring the appropriate use of the EU guarantee. In accordance with the EFSI 
Regulation7, it determines the strategic orientations of EFSI, including its risk profile, the operating policies and 
the procedures necessary for the functioning of the EFSI, and operations with IPs and NPBs. 

During 2015, the Steering Board endorsed a series of documents in these regards, and these documents are 
publicly available8. For example, the Steering Board endorsed the EFSI Strategic Orientation, the EFSI 
Multiplier Methodology for IIW and SMEW and the Methodology for Key Performance and Monitoring 
Indicators for EFSI. The Steering Board met seven times during 2015.  

In line with the EFSI Regulation requirements, the EIB Group also ensured the appointment of the 
EFSI Managing Director and his deputy, following their selection by the Steering Board. The European 
Parliament and the Council were kept duly informed of this selection procedure, and the European Parliament 
organised hearings and endorsed the selected candidates. Moreover, following an open and transparent 
procedure launched by the EIB, the Steering Board appointed the eight independent experts to become 
members of the Investment Committee. 

European Investment Advisory Hub (EIAH) 

The foundations of the Advisory Hub were laid down over the period from November 2014 to July 2015, with 
the definition of the political mandate and the joint response provided by the EIB and the European 
Commission to ensure the implementation of a turnkey solution which could be rapidly up and running. A 
separate report on the services provided by the EIAH during 2015 will be sent to the European Parliament and 
Council by 1 September 2016, as foreseen in the Article 14(9) of the EFSI Regulation. 

A. Investment and Innovation Window (IIW)  

Under IIW, the EFSI Regulation provides that the European Commission was entitled to agree on the use of the 
EU guarantee for transitional operations, i.e. operations that were approved by the EIB’s Board of Directors for 
the entire period from 1 January 2015 until the full appointment of the Investment Committee (IC) members 
and the Managing Director, i.e. until end 2015.  

During this transitional period the EIB approved 42 operations, of which 40 were sent to the European 
Commission for final approval on the use of the EU guarantee, with the remaining to be subsequently 
submitted to the IC9 that became operational in January 2016. The IC is the second governance structure 
foreseen under Article 7 of the EFSI Regulation. Its main responsibility is to examine potential projects in line 
with the EFSI investment policies and for approving the inclusion of the operations in the EFSI guaranteed 
portfolio for EIB operations that comply with EFSI requirements. 

The 42 transitional IIW operations were approved for a total EIB financing under EFSI of EUR 5.6 bn, expected 
to trigger almost EUR 23 bn10 of related investment. These operations covered all EFSI objectives across 15 EU 
Member States.11  

                                                      
6  http://www.eib.org/efsi/governance/efsi-steering-board/index.htm  
7  http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=uriserv%3AOJ.L_.2015.169.01.0001.01.ENG  
8  http://www.eib.org/efsi/governance/documents.htm  
9  http://www.eib.org/efsi/governance/efsi-investment-committee/?lang=en  
10  The investment mobilised figures take into account the cancellation of two projects during Q1 2016. 
11 Including the envelope for a series of projects in Austria. 

http://www.eib.org/efsi/governance/efsi-steering-board/index.htm
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=uriserv%3AOJ.L_.2015.169.01.0001.01.ENG
http://www.eib.org/efsi/governance/documents.htm
http://www.eib.org/efsi/governance/efsi-investment-committee/?lang=en
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Of the 42 warehoused operations, 13 were approved by the Commission during 2015, of which ten were also 
signed as at the end of 2015. The remainder of this Report focuses on these ten signed operations under IIW, 
which were also the scope of the 2015 reporting to the European Commission and the Court of Auditors12.  

These ten operations approved by the European Commission during 2015 were signed for a total amount of 
EUR 1.2 bn with a related investment of almost EUR 5.5 bn. This 2015 EFSI Report assesses the impact of these 
operations together with those approved and signed under SMEW. The list of these operations is enclosed in 
Annex 2. 

B. SME Window  

As part of the EIB Group, the EIF is delivering with the support of the EFSI strong results in favour of smaller 
businesses. As at 31 December 2015, after one year of deployment, EUR 37 bn of the EUR 75 bn initial SMEW 
investment target, representing nearly 50%, has already been reached in terms of approved transactions, and 
more than 110,000 SMEs and Midcaps in 18 EU Member States and across almost all EFSI objectives are 
expected to benefit from such accelerated access to finance.  

In the initial phase of deployment, the EIF concentrated on the acceleration of the two highly successful 
existing EU/EIF financial instruments: InnovFin and COSME13. Here, EFSI has proven to be particularly effective 
in enhancing the deployment of existing EU instruments targeting SMEs and mid-caps in a short timeframe. EIF 

                                                      
12 In line with the EFSI Regulation, the methodology to report separately on the IIW and the SMEW under EFSI and to determine an 

aggregated indicator for each Key Performance Indicator (KPI) and Key Monitoring Indicator (KMI) was adopted by the EFSI Steering 
Board in 2015. The methodology is publicly available at:  
http://www.eib.org/attachments/strategies/efsi_steering_board_kpi_kmi_methodology_en.pdf  

13COSME is an EU programme for the Competitiveness of Small and Medium-sized Enterprises.  A significant part of the COSME 
programme is dedicated towards financial instruments managed by the EIF under a European Commission mandate. The COSME 
financial instruments aim at improving access to finance for SMEs and encouraging the competitiveness of European enterprises. 
Through COSME Loan Guarantee Facility (LGF), the EIF offers guarantees and counter-guarantees to selected financial intermediaries, 
such as guarantee institutions, banks, leasing companies, to help them provide loans and leases to SMEs which they would otherwise 
not support. 
InnovFin SME Guarantee is part of the InnovFin – EU Finance for Innovators programme which is a joint EIB Group and European 
Commission initiative under Horizon 2020, the EU framework for Research and Innovation (R&I) 2014-2020. InnovFin SME Guarantee is 
a guarantee or counter-guarantee on debt financing that the EIF provides to financial intermediaries in order to improve access to 
finance for innovative Small and Medium-sized Enterprises and Small Midcaps, i.e. enterprises with up to 499 employees. Under 
InnovFin SME Guarantee, the EIF provides EU-supported guarantees and counter-guarantees to selected financial intermediaries to 
cover for potential losses on a portfolio of SMEs loans. The guarantee covers up to 50% of the loss on each new eligible loan, bond or 
lease that is originated typically during a two-year period. Thanks to the reduced credit risk and lower capital consumption achieved 
through the guarantee, the EIF encourages financial intermediaries to extend new debt financing to innovative enterprises on more 
attractive terms. 

12%

57%

17%

6%

2% 4% 2%

Chart 1: Investment under IIW related to warehoused 
operations approved in 2015: EUR 22.7bn 
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http://www.eib.org/attachments/strategies/efsi_steering_board_kpi_kmi_methodology_en.pdf
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also deployed very quickly the full EIB contribution to the SMEW in the form of investment in equity to the 
benefit SMEs and Midcaps via private equity funds. 

 
During 2015, more than 130 EFSI transactions were approved under SMEW, of which 83 were also signed. 
As described in the first part, this EFSI Report covers only signed transactions, and therefore, the next part of 
this 2015 Report assesses the impact of the 83 approved and signed transactions under SMEW together with 
the ten operations approved and signed under SMEW. The list of these operations is enclosed in Annex 2.

22%

24%

4%

50%

Chart 2: Investment under SMEW related to warehoused 
transactions approved in 2015: EUR 37.2 bn 
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III. EIB FINANCING AND INVESTMENT OPERATIONS UNDER EFSI – 
2015 EFSI REPORT 

As mentioned in the second part, this Report covers ten operations approved by the Commission during the 
warehousing period and signed as at 31 December 201514 under IIW and 83 transactions approved and signed 
during 2015 under SMEW. In total, these 93 EFSI operations approved and signed during 2015 are expected to 
leverage EUR 29 bn of related investment. The list of operations covered by this 2015 EFSI Report is enclosed 
in Annex 2. 

Given the incipient implementation stage and the small number of projects reported on for 2015 under IIW, it 
is early for making robust conclusions on the geographical and sectoral outreach and on the leverage effects in 
respect to the target of the EFSI investment mobilised.  

During 2015, there were no calls on the EU guarantee, losses, returns or any amounts recovered. The audited 
financial reports are enclosed in Annex 3.  

A. Geographical distribution 

In accordance with the EFSI Regulation, the EIB instruments shall be granted for the benefit of operations 
carried out in the EU or which involve entities located or established in one or more EU Member States and 
extend to one or more third countries.  

Already in 2015, EIB Group operations approved under EFSI and signed covered more than two-thirds of the 
EU member states (19 countries): ten countries were covered under IIW and 17 countries were covered under 
SMEW, excluding SMEW funds active in multiple countries that have not yet been allocated. Member States 
that joined the EU since 2004 were mainly covered by transactions under SMEW, with the IIW pipeline 
gradually building up. 

 

                                                      
14 Under IIW, out of the ten operations approved and signed under EFSI during 2015, one was subsequently cancelled during Q1 2016. In 

line with the report sent to the European Commission and the Court of Auditors covering the same period, the current Report to the 
European Parliament covers this operation, but it will not be part of any subsequent reporting. 

Chart 3. Geographical coverage of 
EFSI signed operations during 2015 
 

EIB Group: 93 signed transactions in 
19 of 28 EU countries 

EIB IIW: 10 signed projects approved 
by EC in 10 of 28 EU countries 

EIF SMEW: 83 signed transactions in 
17 of 28 EU countries 

 

Blue = EIB 
Light Blue = EIF 
Stripes = EIB + EIF 
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In accordance with the EFSI Investment Guidelines, EFSI is demand-driven and aims to support eligible projects 
across the Union as well as cross-border projects, without any geographical pre-allocation. Projects are 
considered on the basis of their individual merits, in order to make sure that the EU budget is used as 
efficiently as possible. However, the macro-economic environment of projects is taken into consideration. 
Each operation is accompanied with a dedicated scoreboard providing, inter alia, a set of indicators related to 
the macro-economic environment, the region or the sector where the projects are taking place. 

The EIB Group is striving to ensure that, at the end of the initial investment period15, a wide range of regions 
would be covered and excessive geographical concentration is avoided. 

As required by the EFSI Investment Guidelines, the EFSI Steering Board endorsed the Strategic Orientation16 
which includes indicative geographic concentration limits to be assessed at the end of the investment period. 
There is a clear objective to avoid EFSI-supported operations from being concentrated in any specific territory. 
The role of the European Investment Advisory Hub will be crucial to achieve the target of a complete 
geographical and sectoral coverage of EFSI. 

The EIB Group has also been developing new instruments in order to maximise its capacity to intervene in 
support to a wide range of projects across all EU Member States, for instance with the support of NPBs or 
through local commercial banks.  

The size of countries naturally influences the magnitude of investment potentially available for EIB Group 
support. In relative terms however, i.e. EIB Group financing compared to GDP, the breakdown is usually in 
favour of smaller EU Member States. 

 

 

                                                      
15 As defined in the EFSI Regulation, i.e. until (a) 5 July 2019, for EIB operations for which a contract between the EIB and the beneficiary or 

financial intermediary has been signed by 30 June 2020 and, (b) 5 July 2019, for EIF operations for which a contract between the EIF and 
the financial intermediary has been signed by 30 June 2020. 

16 http://www.eib.org/attachments/strategies/efsi_steering_board_efsi_strategic_orientation_en.pdf  
 

http://www.eib.org/attachments/strategies/efsi_steering_board_efsi_strategic_orientation_en.pdf
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B. Sectors and objectives 

Article 9(2) of the EFSI Regulation lists the following general objectives of EFSI which correspond to eligible 
sectors / areas for EFSI guaranteed operations: 

 

EFSI Objectives In particular: 

 
 

These general sectoral objectives are further detailed with sub-sectoral priorities which are taken into account 
by the bank to assess the contribution of the projects to EU policy. 

Infrastructure and Innovation Window 

Annex II of the EFSI Regulation or the EFSI Investment Guidelines provide that best effort shall be made to 
ensure that, at the end of the initial investment period, IIW operations would cover a wide range of sectors, 
avoiding excessive concentration. Indicative concentration limits for the end of the initial investment period 
are outlined in the EFSI Strategic Orientation approved by the EFSI Steering Board in December 2015. The 
latter indicates that “an indicative concentration limit of 30% of the IIW portfolio of signed operations in any 
one sector, as defined in the sector classification of Article 9(2) of the Regulation, is deemed appropriate” 
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Such limits however do not apply in the ramp-up phase, when the portfolio is building up and consequently 
may initially have higher levels of concentration. This was the case in 2015, when seven out of ten signed 
operations under IIW were energy-related representing almost 80% of EUR 1.2 bn, the total signed amount for 
these operations. Research, development and innovation represented the second largest sector by amount 
signed, followed by environment and resource efficiency. According to the expected investment mobilised of 
these operations, energy-related operations represent more than 90% of the operations approved and signed 
under EFSI during 201517 (see Chart 4). 

 
The energy objective regroups renewable energy projects, energy infrastructure projects as well as energy 
efficiency and energy savings projects. Energy efficiency projects are also included under the general objective 
“Environment and resource efficiency”. The assessment of the extent to which operations covered by this 
Regulation contribute to the achievement of energy efficiency is presented in the separate section on Outputs 
and Outcomes. 

SMEW Window 

In the case of the 83 transactions signed under SMEW, the SME support covered a range of areas such as 
information and communication, financial and insurance activities, trade, health and manufacturing. These top 
five sectors relate to the signed EFSI guarantee amounts that were allocated to the underlying final 
beneficiaries as at year end 2015. 

 
                                                      
17 Excluding the investment related to the cancelled operation during Q1 2016. 
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C. Added value and aggregate risk profile 

As explained in the first part of this Report, projects supported under EFSI should demonstrate additionality as 
defined by the EFSI regulation. This can be achieved based on  two aspects: the level of risk and the way 
projects address market failures or sub-optimal investment situations. The added value (Value Added Score in 
the internal EIB Group terminology) of projects supported by EFSI encompasses an assessment of their 
additionality, their contribution to the EFSI policy objectives, the quality and soundness of the projects as well 
as the technical and financial contribution of the EIB to the projects. The analysis below aggregates the results 
of the Value Added Score for the EFSI operations in 2015, for both the IIW and the SMEW. 

All 93 operations approved and signed during 2015 under EFSI were estimated to have the highest value added 
scores, and no operations scored low on a granular level. The value added of EFSI operations is referenced to 
the weighted average scoring across the three pillars defined in the Key Performance Indicators Key 
Monitoring Indicators Methodology endorsed by the Steering Board in December 201518. 

VALUE ADDED SCORE PILLAR 1 PILLAR 2 PILLAR 3 

Weighted average  

Graded 4 (lowest) to 1 (highest) 
1.1 High 1.3 Excellent 1.4 High 

Pillars 1 to 3 correspond to the following concepts under each window: 

  

IIW 

SMEW 

Debt operations in the 
form of guarantees 

Equity products 

PILLAR 1 Contribution to EFSI policy 
objectives Impact assessment Specific market 

needs 

PILLAR 2 Quality and soundness of the 
project Quality assessment Transactional 

structure 

PILLAR 3 Technical and financial 
contribution Financial assessment Catalytic effect 

At the same time, these EFSI operations were identified as additional and are expected to address market 
failures or sub-optimal investment situations, which could not have been carried out in the period during 
which the EU guarantee can be used, or not to the same extent, without EFSI support. The additionality of 
these operations was confirmed for each case individually by the European Commission during the transition 
phase, until the EFSI IC became effective in January 2016. 

As explained above, the level of risk is an essential element for assessing the additionality of projects 
supported by the EFSI guarantee. All 93 operations approved under EFSI during 2015 were signed as “Special 
Activities” and are thus, additional following Article 5 of the EFSI Regulation. The term “Special Activities” 
reflects that an operation has a higher risk than a standard EIB operation. Under IIW, all operations were 
signed as EIB “Special Activities” as defined in Article 16 of the EIB Statute and by the EIB’s Credit Risk Policy 
Guidelines. Under SMEW, as mentioned in the Methodology for Key Performance and Monitoring Indicators 

                                                      
18 http://www.eib.org/attachments/strategies/efsi_steering_board_kpi_kmi_methodology_en.pdf  

http://www.eib.org/attachments/strategies/efsi_steering_board_kpi_kmi_methodology_en.pdf
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endorsed by the Steering Board19, the underlying SME risk is consistent with the EIB definition of “Special 
Activities”, and therefore, all SMEW operations are considered sub-investment grade. 

D. Financing mobilised and leverage effects 

Investment mobilised 

The most prominent Key Performance Indicator defined in the EFSI Agreement is the one related to 
investment mobilised. The overall target of investment supported through financing under EFSI is EUR 315 bn. 

The target of EUR 315 bn of investment is linked to operations supported by EFSI within the first three years 
from the date of entering into force of the EFSI Regulation, i.e. by 4 July 2018. The initial investment period of 
EFSI is 4 years in terms of approvals and 5 years in terms of signatures. 

 

The total investment mobilised of operations approved under EFSI and signed during 2015 is estimated to 
reach EUR 29 bn, of which EUR 5.5 bn under IIW and EUR 23.6 bn under SMEW. This would represent 9% of 
the investment target at the EIB Group level. 

TOTAL EFSI RELATED INVESTMENT Amount m EUR 

IIW 5,462.4 

SMEW 23,588.4 

AGGREGATED 29,050.8 

This investment mobilised, in fact, represents the financial amount transferred to final beneficiaries that can 
be channelled through direct or indirect instruments, namely funds and financial institutions that in turn on-
lend to projects or companies eligible under EFSI. Indirect instruments are the standard mechanism for 
delivering transactions under SMEW. Out of the total EUR 29 bn of the estimated investment related to the 
93 operations, EUR 26 bn is expected to reach final beneficiaries via indirect mechanisms, namely funds. Going 
forward, an important portion of the financing envisaged to be provided under EFSI IIW will also be through 
intermediated operations, given their larger leverage effects and their ability to reach a wider number of 
counterparts in a limited period of time, therefore responding to the objective to provide an immediate boost 
to the Union economy and to improve access to financing and the competitiveness of enterprises and other 
entities.  

                                                      
19 http://www.eib.org/attachments/strategies/efsi_steering_board_kpi_kmi_methodology_en.pdf 

Third anniversary 
of signing the 

EFSI Regulation

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

30 June

Deadline 
for 

signature 
of EFSI 

Operations

4 July

Deadline 
for 

approval of 
EFSI 

Operations

4 July4 July

Entry into 
force of 

EFSI 
Regulation

Investment period to achieve EUR 315bn of total investments “Extended” investment period

http://www.eib.org/attachments/strategies/efsi_steering_board_kpi_kmi_methodology_en.pdf
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Multiplier or leverage effects 

The EUR 315 bn target is to be delivered on the basis of an overall combined contribution under EFSI from the 
EU and the EIB of EUR 21 bn, representing a target multiplier effect of 15x.  

While the EFSI multiplier can only be calculated at the end of the investment period, the anticipated total 
multiplier effect of the 93 transactions approved and signed under EFSI during 2015 is 13.3x, slightly below the 
target of 15x. 

TOTAL MULTIPLIER Target 15x 

IIW 13.8x 

SMEW 13.2x 

AGGREGATED 13.3x 

Private finance mobilised 

EFSI operations are intended to be structured in order to maximise, where possible, the mobilisation of private 
sector capital. Of the EUR 29 bn of total investment related to the EFSI financing under the 93 operations, 
slightly more than two-thirds are estimated to involve private sector resources, with almost EUR 18 bn 
representing private finance mobilised. Under IIW, this represents almost 70% of the total related investment, 
and under SMEW, this represents almost 60% of the total related investment. 

 

PRIVATE FINANCE MOBILISED Amount m EUR 

IIW 3,773.3 

SMEW 13,809.0 

AGGREGATED 17,582.3 

 

Of the non-private finance mobilised, EUR 1.5 bn involved NPBs within the scope of 14 operations.  

None of the total of 93 operations involved co-financing from ESIF or other EU funds during 2015. 

E. Outputs and outcomes 

Outputs and outcomes of EFSI supported projects are difficult to aggregate due to the variety of projects 
supported in terms of sectors or size of beneficiaries in particular when focusing on a relatively small portfolio 
of operations. However, the EIB Group calculated for 2015 the aggregated impact on employment, as well as 
the energy-related impact of IIW signed operations as the majority of the IIW projects signed in 2015 were 
energy-related. In addition, case studies are presented in Annex 1 to give examples of the assessment of 
outputs and outcomes. 

The direct employment impact20 of the 93 operations approved and signed under EFSI during 2015, could be 
disaggregated into the following components:  

                                                      
20 Under IIW, the assessment of employment impact refers to the direct employment impact required to implement the project and 

subsequently operate and maintain the tangible asset. This is separate from the indirect employment impact (employment generated in 
the supply-chain linked to an investment project) and induced employment impact (wider employment effects in the economy as a 
result of spending multipliers linked to a project). These secondary employment impacts are not possible to be estimated in a manner 
that would ensure consistency of estimates across operations and their verifiability. 
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- Under the ten operations approved and signed under IIW during 2015, new permanent jobs 
estimated to be created amount to over 2,100.  

- Some 35,218 temporary jobs21 are also expected to be created during the implementation period of 
those ten operations.   

- In addition, more than 26,900 jobs are expected to be supported under the two fund operations 
under IIW and under the 83 operations under SMEW. 
 

Permanent 
Employment Impact 

Temporary Employment  
Impact  Jobs Supported 

2,103 35,21822 26,906 

In regards to other output and outcome indicators, IIW operations can be further analysed in terms of their 
sector allocation. As identified in the section on Sectors and Objectives, seven out of ten signed operations 
under IIW were energy-related. The following table presents a selection of expected results for these seven 
energy-related operations, where an aggregation of outputs and outcomes23 is possible. Such an aggregation 
for other relevant sectors was not possible on the basis of the portfolio of operations signed at the end of 
2015, due to its relative limited size, but will be developed in subsequent Annual Reports to the European 
Parliament and Council. Case studies containing main project characteristics are also presented in Annex 1. 

 

 
  

                                                      
21 Temporary employment in Full Time Equivalent. 
22 Excluding the employment impact of the operation cancelled in Q1 2016. 
23 More information on expected results of EIB activity is presented in the annual report on 3 Pillar Assessment for EIB operations inside he 

EU available on ww.eib.org 

1,451 GWh/y of energy savings 

1,013 km of gas  pipelines 
constructed or upgraded 

 

1,638 MW of electricity 
generation capacity from 
RENEWABLE energy 
sources 

 

2,200 GWh/y of energy transported 

 

1.2 million of households which could be 
supplied with the energy generated by the 
projects 

 

5,820 GWh/y of electricity produced from 
renewable energy sources 
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IV. EFSI STATE OF PLAY AS AT JUNE 2016  
The year 2015 was the first year of implementation of EFSI, with only six months between the adoption of the 
EFSI Regulation and the reference date for this report. In parallel with a swift adoption of the Regulation by the 
European Parliament and the Council, the EIB Group started from spring 2015 to prepare and approve projects 
with the view to include them in the EFSI portfolio. 

While putting in place the agreed governance structures, in particular the EFSI Steering Board and the 
Investment Committee that took office in January 2016, and adapting its organisation, and rules and 
procedures, the EIB Group assessed and signed 93 operations approved under EFSI, supporting projects both 
under the Infrastructure and Innovation Window and the SME Window. 

The ramp-up has been particularly impressive in the SME Window, demonstrating the clear need for financial 
support for SMEs and Midcaps, often faced with major market failures as commercial banks still have a limited 
ability to extend their financing in this sector. 

Under the Infrastructure and Innovation Window, the ten signed operations demonstrated high added value of 
the EIB financing with the support of EFSI, compliance with EU objectives and additionality in terms of risks 
and in terms of response to market failures or suboptimal investment situations. 

On the basis of the experience gained in 2015 and building upon the work done in terms of development of 
new products and project pipeline, the year 2016 sees EFSI implementation reaching its full speed, covering all 
EU general objectives set in the EFSI Regulation and the wide majority of Member States. Increased 
cooperation with NPBs and investments in or co-investments with IPs are also important objectives that the 
EIB Group is striving to achieve under EFSI in order to mobilise resources locally or between countries and 
thus, achieve better and higher impact. As at June 2016, close to 270 transactions in 26 of the 28 EU member 
states have already been approved under EFSI. These transactions are expected to trigger close to 
EUR 106.8 bn of related investment across all EFSI objectives, representing more than a third of the target of 
EUR 315 bn (see Figure 3).  

Figure 3. 

 
 



19 
 
 

 

ANNEX 1.   CASE STUDIES  

CASE STUDY 1: Financing smart meter roll-out in the UK under EFSI IIW 

Motivation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Smart meters enable energy suppliers to read households’ 
electricity and gas meters remotely, access near real-time 
consumption data and so better manage their supply.  In doing 
so, they help consumers control their consumption and make 
meter-reading significantly less expensive.  

The UK government has mandated a smart meter roll-out of 
around 53mn smart meters by 2020. Energy supply companies 
are responsible for procuring and installing these meters. This 
project is providing an experienced smart meter asset provider 
with a loan to help finance the purchase of around 7mn smart 
meters, and their rental to the UK energy supplier, British Gas. 

EIB / EFSI contribution 

Financing large-scale smart meter roll out is viewed by investors as high risk. EFSI financing for this project 
removes financial barriers and will leverage significant external investment funds for future smart meter 
projects.  

As its first operation relating to the smart metering implementation programme in the UK, the EIB’s 
participation will co-finance smart meter roll out, crowd-in further investment and open up the market for 
future off-balance sheet financing of smart meters. As a result, future projects aimed at delivering the overall 
GBP 10bn programme (approximately EUR 13.8bn24) of smart meter investment should be able to access new, 
more cost-efficient sources of financing. 

Benefits 

The roll out of smart meters for electricity and gas supply will reduce the cost of meter reading as individual 
meters no longer have to be read in-situ. Another benefit stems from an improved flow of information on 

                                                      
24 Based on average 2015 GBP/EUR exchange rate (source: www.x-rates.com) 

Sector: Energy Sponsor:  Calvin Capital Limited, UK 

Total related EFSI Investment:  

EUR 1.38 bn 

EFSI financing:  

EUR 479 million 

Objective: 

• To finance large-scale smart meter roll-out to domestic gas and electricity consumers in the UK, 
resulting in the installation of around 7mn of electricity and gas meters 

• To attract further private finance for smart meter roll-out 

Expected results: 

• Energy savings of around 1,350,000 MWh per year from 2021 
• Creation of approximately 8,800 person-years of temporary employment  
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electricity and gas consumption and for households to change their consumption patterns to make energy 
savings.   

Policy links 

This project makes a positive contribution to the EFSI objective of development and modernisation of the 
energy sector and EIB’s key public policy infrastructure objective to achieve a competitive and secure energy 
supply.  Around one-fifth of the smart meters will be located in a cohesion region thereby contributing to EIB’s 
transversal policy objective to finance projects in less developed regions and reduce economic disparities 
between European regions.  

The project forms part of the UK government’s national Smart Metering Implementation Programme to 
replace 53mn gas and electricity meters by 2020. 
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CASE STUDY 2: Financing Quadrivium 1 in France under EFSI SMEW 

 

Company: PEP-Therapy, Paris 

Type of business: biotech company developing targeted 
therapies for the treatment of severe diseases, with an initial 
focus on cancer. 

EU-supported investment through Quadrivium 1: EUR 1 million 

Angelita Rebollo is a fun-loving Spaniard whose email signature 
includes the message, “When life hands you a lemon, bring out 
the tequila and salt.” She also has a brilliant scientific mind, 
which she uses to kill—cancerous cells, that is. 

In her laboratory at Université Pierre et Marie Curie in the historic Pitié-Salpêtrière Hospital near the banks of 
the Seine in central Paris, Rebollo has developed a technique for blocking specific functions of proteins that 
turn a healthy cell into a cancer cell. The treatment could help people with a range of illnesses, though initial 
results suggest it will first be used to treat ovarian cancer and severe types of breast cancers. While 
chemotherapy causes numerous side-effects by destroying many good cells along with the cancerous ones, 
Rebollo’s targeted therapy kills only the cancerous cells. 

Her research into the topic started 17 years ago in Madrid and led her to found a company, PEP-Therapy, with 
a few other scientists working at prestigious French research institutions. The company name comes from the 
molecules at the heart of Rebollo’s research—cell-penetrating and interfering peptides—and the company’s 
role is to convert this scientific breakthrough into a medicine that can be used to save lives. 

“The reason we created the company was to translate the research from the bench to the hospital,” says 
Rebollo. “The objective is to develop a molecule that will help many, many people.” 

PEP-Therapy received EUR 1 million of support from Quadrivium 1, the first French investment fund to provide 
seed funding for life sciences and digital technology projects that start out at—or are linked to—a dozen 
French academic research institutions. It’s a model that was pioneered by US universities. In Europe it has 
been taken up most strongly in the UK. But it hasn’t been done before in France. “It has been challenging to 
introduce this concept to France,” says Philippe Tramoy, the Quadrivium 1 partner who manages its life 
sciences portfolio. “We’re the first one, so everybody is watching us to see if this is something they can 
follow.” 

U.S. universities have long “spun out” their research into separate companies. Genentech was founded in 1976 
by a University of California, San Francisco biochemist and, in 2009, was bought by a Swiss company for USD 
46.9 bn. The Lycos search engine started as an academic project at Carnegie Mellon University in Pittsburgh 
and was sold for USD 36 million in 2010. A university tends to earn more money ultimately by developing a 
product than by simply licensing its research to a big company for further development. Equity stakes in the 
spinouts also encourage researchers to remain at their academic posts, instead of taking higher-paid positions 
in private industry.Beyond the US, the academic spinout has been taken up to the tune of hundreds of millions 
of pounds in the UK. Last year the European Investment Bank loaned GBP 50 million to Imperial Innovations, a 
company that takes research produced primarily at London’s Imperial College and develops businesses in 
biotech and life sciences. That followed a previous GBP 30 million EIB loan to Imperial Innovations in 2013. 
There are successful spinout funds at other UK universities, including Oxford, Cambridge and University 
College London. 

But Quadrivium 1 was a French first when it started in December 2013, managed by a team at Seventure 
Partners and funded by several investors, including Bpifrance, a subsidiary of Caisse des Dépôts. On 29 April, 
the fund got a EUR 20 million injection from the European Investment Fund, a part of the EIB Group, taking 
Quadrivium 1’s total financing to EUR 56 million. 
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ANNEX 2.  EFSI PROJECTS APPROVED AND SIGNED UNDER EFSI 
DURING 2015  

 

Infrastructure and Innovation Window25 

Project name Country EFSI Objective 
AANEKOSKI BIO-PRODUCT MILL Finland Energy 

Environment and resource efficiency 
SPEE EN PICARDIE France Energy 
SEM ENERGIES POSIT-IF ILE DE FRANCE France Energy 
ARVEDI MODERNISATION PROGRAMME Italy RDI 
REDEXIS GAS TRANSMISSION AND DISTRIBUTION Spain Energy 
GRIFOLS BIOSCIENCE R&D SPAIN Spain RDI 
CAPENERGIE 3 FUND Regional EU Energy 
COPENHAGEN INFRASTRUCTURE II Regional EU Energy 
SMART METERS - PROJECT SPARK United Kingdom Energy 

 

 

SME Window 
Transaction name Country EFSI Objective 
V-Bio Ventures Fund 1 ARKIV (formerly VIB 
Innovation Fund) 

Belgium Social infrastructure 

Sowalfin IFSMEG 2015 Belgium RDI 
ING Belgium - IFSMEG 2015 Belgium RDI 
Sowalfin - COSME LGF (SMEG 2014) Belgium Smaller Businesses 
Flemish Participation Fund - COSME LGF (SMEG 
2014) 

Belgium Smaller Businesses 

CIBANK - COSME LGF (SMEG 2014) Bulgaria Smaller Businesses 
CMZRB - COSME LGF (SMEG 2014) Czech Republic Smaller Businesses 
Vaekstfonden - COSME LGF (SMEG 2014) Denmark Smaller Businesses 
KredEx - COSME LGF (SMEG 2014) Estonia Smaller Businesses 
Acto Mezzanine II France RDI 
FCDE II France RDI 
Nixen III France RDI 
Abénex V France RDI 
Initiative & Finance II France RDI 
Quadrivium I France Digital 
Bpifrance financement start-up IFSMEG 2015 France RDI 
Bpifrance financement PI FEI IFSMEG 2015 France RDI 
GE Capital Equipement Finance - COSME LGF 
(SMEG 2014) 

France Smaller Businesses 

Holtzbrinck Ventures Fund VI Germany Digital 
Odewald KMU II Fonds Germany RDI 

                                                      
25 Out of the ten operations approved and signed under EFSI during 2015, one was subsequently cancelled during Q1 2016 and is therefore 

not included in the list. 
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Finatem IV GmbH & Co. KG Germany RDI 
Project A Ventures II Germany Digital 
KfW 2 - COSME LGF (SMEG 2014) Germany Smaller Businesses 
Buergschaftsbanken - COSME LGF (SMEG 2014) Germany Smaller Businesses 
K&H - COSME LGF (SMEG 2014) Hungary Smaller Businesses 
Ceska Sporitelna IFSMEG 2015 Ireland RDI 
ING Lux IFSMEG 2015 Ireland RDI 
Idea Bank InnovFin 2015 Ireland RDI 
Belfius IFSMEG 2015 Ireland RDI 
Bank of Ireland IFSMEG 2015 Ireland RDI 
21 Investimenti III Italy RDI 
Alcedo IV Italy RDI 
Programma 101 Italy Digital 
RiverRock Italian Hybrid Capital Fund Italy RDI 
CREDEM_IFSMEG_2015 Italy RDI 
BPER - IFSMEG 2015 Italy RDI 
MCTAA - IFSMEG 2015 Italy RDI 
CDP SACE IFSMEG 2015 Italy RDI 
CREDEM - COSME LGF (SMEG 2014) Italy Smaller Businesses 
CDP Group - COSME LGF (SMEG 2014) Italy Smaller Businesses 
BIL Luxembourg IFSMEG 2015 Luxembourg RDI 
Henq III Netherlands Digital 
Karmijn Kapitaal Fund II Netherlands RDI 
Qredits - COSME LGF (SMEG 2014) Netherlands Smaller Businesses 
BGK - COSME LGF (SMEG 2014) Poland Smaller Businesses 
Idea Bank - COSME LGF (SMEG 2014) Poland Smaller Businesses 
RLPL - COSME LGF (SMEG 2014) Poland Smaller Businesses 
BANIF - IFSMEG 2015 Portugal RDI 
Novo Banco_IFSMEG_2015 Portugal RDI 
BCP Millennium IFSMEG 2015 Portugal RDI 
SEF - COSME LGF (SMEG 2014) Slovenia Smaller Businesses 
Abac Solutions (SCA) SICAR Spain RDI 
BeAble Innvierte KETs Fund Spain Digital 
Inveready IFSMEG 2015 Spain RDI 
Mayfair Equity Partners Fund I United Kingdom RDI 
Livingbridge Entreprise II United Kingdom RDI 
Key Capital Partners VIII L.P. United Kingdom RDI 
Santander UK IFSMEG 2015 United Kingdom RDI 
Barclays UK IFSMEG 2015 United Kingdom RDI 
iwoca - COSME LGF (SMEG 2014) United Kingdom Smaller Businesses 
Lakestar II Multi-Country Digital 
Hedosophia Gamma Multi-Country Digital 
Highland Europe Technology Growth Fund II Multi-Country Digital 
b-to-v Internet & Mobile Technologies Multi-Country Digital 
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Genesis Private Equity Fund III Multi-Country RDI 
HPE Fund II Multi-Country RDI 
Notion Capital III Multi-Country Digital 
GP Bullhound Sidecar III Multi-Country Digital 
HealthCap VII Multi-Country Social infrastructure 
Sofinnova Capital VIII Multi-Country Social infrastructure 
Partech Growth Multi-Country Digital 
Paladin European Cyber Fund Multi-Country Digital 
RiverRock EOF II Multi-Country RDI 
BlackFin Financial Services Fund II Multi-Country RDI 
Abingworth Pharma Co-development Fund Multi-Country Social infrastructure 
eEquity III Multi-Country RDI 
Paua Ventures Fonds 1 GmbH & Co. KG Multi-Country Digital 
Connect Ventures II Multi-Country Digital 
Open Ocean Fund IV Multi-Country Digital 
Priveq Investment V Multi-Country RDI 
EMH Digital Growth Fund GmbH & Co KG Multi-Country Digital 
Muzinich UK Private Debt Multi-Country RDI 
Thuja Capital Healthcare Fund II Multi-Country Social infrastructure 
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ANNEX 3.   EFSI AUDITED FINANCIAL REPORTS (2015)  
 

















European Fund for Strategic Investments
-

Infrastructure and Innovation Window

Financial Reporting*

31 December 2015

* prepared in accordance with art. 23 of the Agreement on the Management of the European Fund for Strategic Investments and on the 
Granting of the EU Guarantee.

Version compiled by FC as at 10.02.2016



Template 1
Outstanding EFSI Guaranteed Debt Type Operations (in EUR)
as of 31.12.2015

Operation 
Number  Currency Id Counterparty  Id Denomination of the Guaranteed Obligor Signature date Undisbursed Exposure 

Theoretical Disbursed 
Exposure*

Real Disbursed 
Exposure**

Accrued interests 
on current 

installments 
Overdue 
capital Overdue interests Overdue penalties Overdue fees 

Amount Called but 
not paid 

Subrogated 
amounts 

Restructuring 
losses 

Net available EU 
guarantee (at portfolio 

level) 
84081 EUR 17831 GRIFOLS WORLDWIDE OPERATIONS LTD 28/10/2015 0.00 100,000,000.00 100,000,000.00 300,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

84233 EUR 17682 ACCIAIERIA ARVEDI SPA 22/05/2015 0.00 28,125,000.00 28,125,000.00 62,640.63 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

84233 EUR 17840 SIDERURGICA TRIESTINA SRL 22/05/2015 0.00 65,625,000.00 65,625,000.00 146,161.46 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

84497 GBP 18114 METER FIT 5 LTD 02/12/2015 490,496,627.84 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

84560 EUR 17720 REDEXIS GAS SA 22/12/2015 160,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

84782 EUR 12968 METSAELIITTO OSUUSKUNTA 12/06/2015 75,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

84974 EUR 17154 SEM ENERGIES POSIT'IF 07/12/2015 100,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

85174 EUR 12280 ABENGOA SA 06/07/2015 50,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

85475 EUR 17768 REGIE REGIONALE DU SERVICE PUBLIC DE L'EFFICACITE ENERGETIQUE 07/12/2015 23,500,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

898,996,627.84 193,750,000.00 193,750,000.00 508,802.09 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 11,000,000,000.00

* Theoretical exposure is the disbursed exposure calculated based on the contractual capital cashflows as per the debt repayment schedule
** Real exposure is the disbursed exposure calculated based on the actual capital cashflows received  



Template 2
Outstanding EFSI Guaranteed Equity Type Operations (in EUR)
as of 31.12.2015

Operation 
Number  Currency Id Counterparty  Id Denomination of the Guaranteed Obligor

Signature 
Date

Undisbursed 
Exposure

Disbursed Exposure 
amount 

Value 
Adjustement 

Net available EU 
guarantee (at portfolio 

level)

84391 DKK 17955 COPENHAGEN INFRASTRUCTURE II K/S 01/07/2015 29,851,675.83 6,584,133.93 0.00

84391 GBP 17955 COPENHAGEN INFRASTRUCTURE II K/S 01/07/2015 0.00 1,056,678.42 0.00

84577 EUR 17935 CAPENERGIE 3 23/07/2015 25,000,000.00 0.00 0.00

54,851,675.83 7,640,812.35 0.00 2,499,997,840.10



Template 3
Outstanding EFSI Guaranteed Equity Type Operations - additional information
as of 31.12.2015

Not applicable



Template 4
Defaulted and subrogated Debt Type Operations 
as of 31.12.2015

Instalment 
Called

Instalment Paid 
by GF

Instalment 
Refunded Call ID Call Date

EFSI 
Payment 

Date FI Number
Facility 
Name Country Currency

Total Principal 
Outstanding

Total Principal in 
Arrears to date 

(Curr)
Exchange Rate 

(31/12/2015)

Exchange 
Rate (as at 

EFSI payment 
date) Instalment Date

Not Yet Called 
(but late)

Called, not 
Paid by 

EFSI
Called and 

Paid by EFSI

Not Yet 
Called  

(but late)

Called, 
not Paid 
by EFSI

Called and 
Paid by 

EFSI

Not yet 
called  

(but late)

Called, 
not yet 
paid by 

EFSI

Called and 
Paid By 

EFSI

Generated 
GF 

Penalty 
Not Yet 
Called

Called, 
not yet 
paid by 
year end

Called and 
Paid

Accrued EFSI Penalties 
by Year End (P2 For 
Amount Called And 

Paid) 

Accrued EFSI 
Penalty until 

Year End (P2 For 
Amount Called 
and Not Paid)

Accrued Recovery 
Fees on called 

amounts by Year 
End (1%) Principal Interests

Other 
amounts

Recovery 
Fees Paid 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Principal Outstanding Interest Outstanding

Other Amounts Outstanding 
(Borrower Penalties, 

Commissions, Subsidies)
Guarantee Fund Penalty From 

Calls Recovery (if called)EFSI Accrual Accounting Borrower Penalties



Template 5
Information on financial flows - Information on amount incurred, amount settled and amount oustanding (in EUR)

1. Inflows Amount Incurred Amount settled 

Amount outstanding at the 
beginning of the period 

(01/01/2015)

Amount outstanding at the 
end of the period 

(31/12/2015)

1.1 IIW Debt Portfolio risk sharing revenues 1,401,583.33             -                                          -                                          1,401,583.33                         

1.2 IIW Equity Portfolio revenues - Interests, dividends -                             -                                          -                                          -                                          

1.3 IIW Equity Portfolio revenues – Reversed Value Adjustments -                             -                                          -                                          -                                          

1.4 IIW Equity Portfolio revenues – Gains on repayments/prepayments or dis-investments -                             -                                          -                                          -                                          

1.5 IIW Debt Portfolio Recovered subrogated amounts -                             -                                          -                                          -                                          

1.6 Interest on the EFSI Account balance -                             -                                          -                                          -                                          

1.7 Other EU revenue n/a n/a n/a n/a

1.8 Inflows from the EIF for SMEW Operations n/a -                                          n/a n/a

1.9 Payments from the EU n/a -                                          n/a n/a

2. Outflows Amount Incurred Amount settled 

Amount outstanding at the 
beginning of the period 

(01/01/2015)

Amount outstanding at the 
end of the period 

(31/12/2015)

2.1 IIW Debt Portfolio Calls of the EU Guarantee – Payment defaults -                             -                                          -                                          -                                          

2.2 IIW Debt Portfolio Calls of the EU Guarantee – Restructuring Losses -                             -                                          -                                          -                                          

2.3 IIW Debt Portfolio EIB Recoverable Administrative Costs -                             -                                          -                                          -                                          

2.4 IIW Debt Portfolio Recovery costs on subrogated amounts and IIW Equity Portfolio Recovery costs -                             -                                          -                                          -                                          

2.5 IIW Equity Portfolio expenses – Value Adjustments -                             -                                          -                                          -                                          

2.6 IIW Equity Portfolio expenses – Losses on repayments/prepayments or dis-investments -                             -                                          -                                          -                                          

2.7 IIW Equity Portfolio expenses - EIB Funding Costs 2,159.90                    -                                          -                                          2,159.90                                 

2.8 EU contributions to EIAH agreement n/a -                                          n/a n/a

2.9 Other EU expense n/a n/a n/a n/a

2.10 Outflows to the EIF for SMEW Operations -                             -                                          -                                          -                                          

2.11 Payments to the EU n/a -                                          n/a n/a

3. Cash balance on EFSI Account on 1 January -                                          

4. Cash balance on EFSI Account on 31 December -                                          
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KPMG Luxembourg, Societe cooperative 
39, Avenue John F Kennedy 
L-1855 Luxembourg 

To the Chief Executive of the 
European Investment Fund 
3713. avenue J.F.Kenncd) 
L-2968 Luxembourg 

Tel.: +352 22 51 51 1 
Fax: +352 22 51 71 
Email: info@kpmg.lu 
Internet V'IWW kpmg lu 

REPORT OF THE REVISE UR O'ENTREPRISES AGREE 

We have audited the accompanying financial statcrnents of lnmwFin SME Guarantee 
(lnnovFin SMEG) ( .. the Facility"") managed by the European Investment Fund on behalf of 
the European Commission which comprise the balance sheet as al December 31. 2015 
and the economic outtum account. statement of changes in capital and cash llo\\ table for 
the year then ended. and a summary of significant accounting policies and other cxplanalor) 
information. 

European /11n's/me111 F1111d 's Ma11ageme111 's re.,11m1sihility.fiw the ji11a11c:ial stale111e111s 

The European Investment Fund"s Management is responsible for the preparation of these 
financial statements in accordance with the accounting rules set out in note 2 to the financial 
statements relating to the preparation of the linancial statements. and fix such internal control 
as the European Investment Fund"s Management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation or linancial statements that arc free from material misstatement. \\ hcther due to 
fraud or error. 

Responsihility cf the Rel'iseur c/'£11/reprises agree 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing as 
adopted for Luxembourg by the Commission de Surveillance du Seetcur Financier. Those 
standards require that we comply "ith ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about "hether the financial statements arc free from material 
m isstatcment. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the judgement of 
the Rcviscur d' Entrcpriscs agree. including the assessment or the risks of material 
misstatement of the linancial statements. whether clue to fraud or error. In makinl! those 
risk assessments. the Reviscur d' Entreprises agree considers internal control rele\ ant to 
the entity"s preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
arc appropriate in the circumstances. but not for the purpose or expressing. an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity"s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness or accounting estimates 
made by the European Investment Fund"s Management. as \\ell as evaluating the o\'erall 
presentation or the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sunicient and appropriate lo pro,·ide 
a basis for our audit opinion. 
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Opi11io11 

In our opinion. the financial statements of lnnovFin Sl\IE Guarantee (lnnovFin SMEG) for 
the year ended December 3 I. 2015 arc prepared in al I material respects in accordance 
with the accounting rules set out in note 2 to the financial statements. 

Basis <!lAc:cm111ti11}! a11cl Restrictio11 011 Distrih11tio11 

Without modifying our opinion. we dra\\ attention to Note 2 to the financial 
statements. \\ hich describes the basis of accounting. The financial statements arc prepared 
to enable European Investment Fund to meet the requirements of the European 
Commission. As a result, the financial statements may not be suitable for another purpose. 

Our report is intended solely for the European Investment Fund and the European 
Commission and should not be distributed to parties other than the European Im estment 
Fund. the European Commission and the European Court of Auditors. 

Luxembourg, March 15, 2016 KPMG Luxembourg 
Socictc cooperative 
Cabinet de revision agree 

M. Tabart 



lnnovFin SME Guarantee (lnnovFin SMEG} 
Economic outturn account for the year ended December 31, 2015 

From 12 June 2014 

to 31 December 

Economic outtum account Notes 2015 2014 

EUR EUR 

Financial operations revenues 

Net interest income 6.1 397 810 61 664 

Other operating income 93 0 

Foreign exchange gain 6.4 51 981 0 

Total financial operations revenues 449 884 61 664 

Financial operations expenses 

Interest charges 0 93 

General administrative expenses 6.2 15 531 262 4 000 000 

Realised loss on Available-For Sale portfolio 17 777 0 

Treasury management fees ~.3 208 331 33 637 

Provision for risks and liabilities 5.2 23 750 780 620 525 

Total financial operations expenses 39 508 150 4 654 255 

Economic result of the year (39 058 266) (4 592 591) 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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lnnovFin SME Guarantee (lnnovFin SMEG) 
Balance Sheet as at December 31, 2015 

ASSETS Notes 2015 2014 
EUR EUR 

Current Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 4.1 94 420 839 67 399 808 
Debt securities and other fixed income 4.2 1 120 056 918 334 

Other assets 5 0 

Total Current Assets 95 540 900 68318142 

Non Current Assets 
Debt securities and other fixed income 198514758 96 594 590 

Total Non Current Assets 198 514 758 96 594 590 

Total Assets 294 055 658 164 912 732 

LIABILITIES 

Capital 

EU contribution 5.1 304 246 720 168 614 939 

Reserve on Available for sale Portfolio 798 713 236 222 

Accumulated deficit (4592591) 0 

Economic result of the year (39 058 266) (4 592 591) 

Total Capital 261 394 576 164 258 570 

Current liabilities 

Provision for risks and liabilities 5.2 9 360 337 223 311 

Other liabilities 5.3 8 453 036 33 637 

Total Current liabilities 17 813 373 256 948 

Non Current liabilities 

Provision for risks and liabilities 5.2 14 847 709 397 214 

Total Non Current liabilities 14 847 709 397 214 

Total Liabilities 32 661 082 654 162 

Total Caeital and Liabilities 294 055 658 164 912 732 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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lnnovfin SME Guarantee (lnnovfin SMEG) 
Cash flow table for the year ended December 31, 2015 

Cash flow statements 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Administrative fees paid 

Incentive fees paid 

Risk fees paid 

Payment of guarantee calls 

Other operating charges 

Other operating income 

Net cash flows from operating activities 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Investments 

Interest received 

Net cash flows from investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities 

EU contribution received 

Net cash flows from financing activities 

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 

Notes 
2015 

EUR 

( 721 218) 

(6 561 280) 

( 37 696) 

( 163 029) 

0 

93 

(7 483 130) 

(103 092 342) 

1 964 722 

(l 01 127 620) 

135 631 781 

135 631 781 

27 021 031 

67 399 808 

94 420 839 

2014 
EUR 

(4 000 000) 

0 

0 

0 

( 93) 

0 

(4 000 093) 

(97 222 800) 

7 762 

(97 215 038) 

168 614 939 

168 614 939 

67 399 808 

0 

67 399 808 

Interest received from cash and cash equivalents include also effect of exchange rate fluctuations. 

Proceeds from shares and other variable income securities also include dividends income 

received . 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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lnnovFin SME Guarantee (lnnovFin SMEG) 
Statement of Changes in Capital as at December 31, 2015 

EU contribution Accumulated deficit 
Economic result of the 

Fair value reserve Total capital 
year 

Balance as at 31.12.2014 168 614 939 0 (4 592 591) 236 222 164 258 570 

Allocation of the Economic result of the year 2014 0 (4 592 591) 4 592 591 0 0 

EU contribution 135 631 781 0 0 0 135 631 781 

Net change in fair value reserve 0 0 0 562 491 562 491 

Allocation of the Economic result of the year 2015 0 0 (39 058 266) 0 (39 058 266) 

Balance as at 31 .12.2015 304 246 720 (4 592 591) (39 058 266) 798 713 261 394 576 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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lnnovFin SME Guarantee (lnnovFin SMEG) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

1 . General section 

On 11 December 2013, Regulation (EU) n° 1291 /2013 of the European Parliament and the 
Council establishing Horizon 2020 - the Framework Program for Research and Innovation (2014-
2020- and repealing Decision n° 1982/2006/EC was adopted. 

Following this decision, the European Investment Bank (hereafter "EIB"), the European Investment 
Fund (hereafter "Elf") and the European Union (hereafter "EU'") represented by the European 
Commission (hereafter "EC") entered into a Delegation Agreement in respect of the Financial 
Instruments under Horizon 2020. The "Access to Risk Finance Programme" of Horizon 2020 and 
Specific Programme provides for the establishment of a financial instrument for debt and a 
financial instrument for equity (hereinafter "Horizon 2020 Financial Instruments"). The Horizon 
2020 Financial Instruments aim to ease the access to risk financing for Final Recipients in order to 
support eligible Research and Innovation. This covers loans, guarantees, equity and other forms of 
risk finance. The Horizon 2020 Financial Instruments aim also to promote early-stage investment 
and the development of existing and new venture capital funds; improve knowledge transfer and 
the market for intellectual property; attracts funds for the venture capital market; and, overall; help 
to catalyse the transition from the conception, development and demonstration of new products 
and services to their commercialisation. The Horizon 2020 debt financial instrument also include 
the implementation mechanism of the EU Contribution under the SME Initiative. 

In the context of Horizon 2020 Financial Instruments, a Risk-Sharing facility (hereafter the 
"Facility") has been structured in the form of a guarantee, using the EU's contribution for first
Defaulted Amount taking and the risk-taking capacity of the Elf for second-Defaulted Amount 
taking. The objective of the Facility is to incentivise Intermediaries to extend loans or financial 
leases to small and medium sized enterprises and Small Mid-caps with significant activities in 
Research, Development and Innovation. 

The Elf's Management has authorized the financial statements for issue on March 15, 2016. 

The financial year of the facility runs from January l, to December 31 each year except for the first 
period which ran from June 12, 2014 to December 31, 2014. 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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lnnovFin SME Guarantee (lnnovFin SMEG) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set 
out below. 

2.1. Basis of preparation 

The accounts are kept in accordance with Council Regulation (EC, Euratom) No 966/2012 of the 
European Parliament and of the Council of 25 October 2012 (OJ L 298 of 26 October 2012) on 
the Financial Regulation applicable to the general budget of the Union and Commission 
Regulation (EU) No 1268/2012 of 29 October 2012 on the rules of application of the Financial 
Regulation. 

In accordance with article 144 of the Financial Regulation the financial statements have been 
prepared on the basis of accrual-based accounting rules that are derived from International Public 
Sector Standards (IPSAS) or by default, International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS). These 
accounting rules, adopted by the Accounting Officer of the Commission have to be applied by all 
the institutions and EU bodies in order to establish a uniform set of rules for accounting, valuation 
and presentation of the accounts with a view to harmonise the process for drawing up the financial 
statements. 

The Facility has consistently applied the policies set out below to the year 2015. 

2.2. Significant accounting judgments and estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the accounting rules adopted by the 

Accounting Officer of the European Commission requires the use of certain critical accounting 

estimates. It also requires the European Investment Fund's Management ("the Management") to 

exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Facility's accounting policies. The areas 

involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 

are significant to the financial statements are disclosed hereafter. 

The most significant use of judgements and estimates are as follows: 

• Fair value of financial instruments 

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the balance sheet 

cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques 

that include the use of mathematical models. The input to these models is taken from observable 

markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in 

establishing fair values. The judgments include considerations of liquidity and model inputs such 

as correction and volatility for longer dated derivatives. 
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lnnovFin SME Guarantee (lnnovFin SMEG) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

• Impairment losses on financial instruments 

The Facility reviews its financial instruments at each reporting date to assess whether an allowance 

for impairment should be recorded in the economic outturn account. In particular, judgment by 

the Management is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when 

determining the level of allowance required. 

• Provisions for risks and liabilities 

According to the accounting rules established by the Accounting Officer of the European 

Commission and in particular the accounting rule on "Provisions, contingent assets and liabilities", 

a provision should be established on the face of the balance sheet when the following three 

conditions are met: 

• A present obligation exists as a result of a past event; 

• The likelihood of an outflow of resources is higher than 50%; and 

• A reliable estimate is possible. 

The Facility is based on a portfolio first-loss piece approach and the facility therefore reviews its 

exposure to the first loss piece of the financial guarantees issued by European Investment Fund at 

each reporting date to assess whether a provision for risks and liabilities should be recorded in the 

economic outturn account. In particular, judgment by the Management is required in the 

estimation and timing of future cash flows when determining the level of provision is required. 

2.3. Summary of significant accounting policies 

2.3.1 Foreign currencies 

The Facility uses the Euro (EUR) for presenting its financial statements, which is also the functional 
currency. 

Foreign currency transactions are translated at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the 
transaction. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than Euro are translated into Euro 
at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date. The gain or loss arising from such 
translation is recorded in the economic outturn account. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date 
when the fair value was determined. 
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lnnovFin SME Guarantee (lnnovFin SMEG) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

Exchange differences on non-monetary assets are a component of the change in their fair value. 
Depending on the classification of a non-monetary financial asset, exchange differences are either 
recognised in the economic outturn account or within the reserves. 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of transactions at rates different from those at the 
date of the transaction, and unrealised foreign exchange differences on unsettled foreign currency 
monetary assets and liabilities, are recognised in the economic outturn account. 

The elements of the economic outturn account are translated into Euro on the basis of the 
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each month. 

2.3.2 Cash and cash equivalents 

The Facility defines cash and cash equivalents as current accounts, and short-term deposits with 

original maturities of three months or less. 

2.3.3 Debt securities and other fixed-income securities 

Debt securities and other fixed-income securities are made up of euro-denominated securities. 
These securities are classified as Available-For Sale ("AFS") according to the accounting rules 
adopted by the according to the accounting rules adopted by the Accounting Officer of the 
European Commission and consequently, are carried out at their fair value through reserve on 
Available-For-Sale portfolio. Unrealised gains or losses are reported in reserves until such security 
is sold, collected or otherwise disposed of, or until such security is determined to be impaired. 
Impairment losses identified are recognised in the economic outturn account for the year. 

On disposal of an available for sale security, the accumulated unrealised gain or loss included in 
reserve on Available-For-Sale portfolio is transferred to the economic outturn account for the year. 
Interest income on available-for-sale securities is included in "interest income" in the economic 
outturn account. 

The determination of fair values of available for sale investments is generally based on quoted 
market rates in active markets. 

These securities are initially measured at their acquisition cost, being their fair value at this 
moment. The difference between the purchase price and the redemption value, i.e. the 
premium/discount spread, is amortised over the remaining life of each of the securities. 

Securities are considered impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one 
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the security (a "loss event") and that 
loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the security that can be reliably 
estimated. 

Evidence of impairment is mainly about significant financial difficulties of the issuer, a breach of 
contract, a restructuring of the debt of the issuer, a high probability of bankruptcy, etc. It is 
important to stress that the disappearance of an active market because the entity's financial 
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lnnovFin SME Guarantee (lnnovFin SMEG) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

instruments are no longer publicly traded is not evidence of impairment. A downgrade of an 
entity's credit rating is not, in itself, evidence of impairment, although it may be evidence of 
impairment when considered with other available information. A decline in the fair value of a 
financial asset below its cost or amortised cost is not necessarily evidence of impairment. 

If in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale 
increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised in the economic outturn account, the impairment loss shall be reversed, with 
the amount of the reversal recognised in the economic outturn account. 

2.3.4 Other assets 

Prepayments and accrued income include expenses related to subsequent financial years but 
which are paid and accounted for during the current year, as well as income relating to the current 
year, which will be received in subsequent years. 

The interest accruals on term deposits have been included in the carrying amount of the financial 
assets. 

2.3.5 EU contribution 

The contributions received from the European Commission (hereafter "EC") are recognised in the 
balance sheet on the date when payments are received or made. 

2.3.6 Other liabilities 

Accruals represent charges related to the current financial year but which have not yet been paid 
and deferred income represent income received in the current financial year which is, however, 
related to a subsequent financial year. 

2.3.7 Interest income 

Interest income and interest charges are recorded on an accrual basis. 

2.3.8 Taxation 

The Protocol on the Privileges and Immunities of the European Communities, appended to the 

Treaty of 8 April 1965 establishing a Single Council and a Single Commission of the European 

Communities, stipulates that the assets, revenues and other property of the Institutions of the Union 

are exempt from all direct taxes. 
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lnnovfin SME Guarantee (lnnovfin SMEG) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

2.3.9 Accounting estimates and judgements 

According to the EC Accounting Rules (AR) and in particular the AR on "Provisions, contingent 
assets and liabilities", a provision should be established on the face of the balance sheet when the 
following three conditions are met: a present obligation exists as a result of a past event, the 
likelihood of an outflow of resources is higher than 50% and a reliable estimate is possible. 

The Facility is based on a portfolio first-loss piece approach. 

The financial risk of the Facility for the drawn and undrawn guarantees is not capped. The 
expected loss estimated for each guarantee operation is recognised as the provision and is 
subsequently reduced by the payment demands made by financial intermediaries, net of any loss 
recoveries. It corresponds to the provision of the Facility. 

In order to reflect the time values of money, the provisions are distributed over the life of the 

guarantee and are discounted using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 

time value of money. 
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lnnovFin SME Guarantee (lnnovFin SMEG) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

3. Financial risk management 

The Risk Management function of EIF ensures that the portfolio is managed in line with the agreed 

asset management guidelines, especially in respect of the eligible investments in the Facility's 

portfolio, the average maturity, the interest rate risk and the credit risk exposure of the Facility's 

portfolio. In this respect quarterly reporting is also delivered to the EC concerning the risk and the 

performance of the Facility's portfolio. The reporting makes reference to breaches, if any, of the 

limits set out in the Facility Agreement and includes a comparison of the valuations of the portfolio 

to a performance index taken as benchmark. 

3.1 . Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that another party will cause a financial loss to the Facility by failing to 

discharge an obligation. The EIF uses appropriate instruments, policies, and processes to manage 

the credit risk of the Facility. 

In accordance with the AMG, all interbank investments should have a minimum Moody's credit 

rating of P-1 or equivalent (Fitch: Fl or Fl+). 

3.1.1 Current accounts - Profile of counterparties 

The following table shows the breakdown of current account balances per short-term counterparty 

rating: 

31.12.2015 31.12.2014 

Rating Currency Balance in Converted to 
in% 

Balance in Converted to 
in% 

currency EUR currency EUR 

Fl+ EUR 5 562 142 5 562 142 47% 41 625 725 41 625 725 100% 

GBP 30 41 0% 0 0 0% 

CZK 168 596 982 6239018 53% 0 0 0% 

SEK 1 001 109 0% 0 0 0% 

Total 11 801 310 100% 41 625 725 100% 
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lnnovFin SME Guarantee (lnnovFin SMEG) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December31, 2015 

3.1.2. Short term deposits with a maturity of 3 months or less - Profile of 

cou nterparties 

The following table shows the breakdown of short term deposits/commercial papers (excluding 

short-term deposits under settlement) with maturity less than 3 months per counterparty short term 

rating (eligible short term rating P-1 ). The amounts presented include accrued interest: 

31.12.2015 31.12.2014 

Rating Balance in Converted to Balance in Converted to 
EUR 

in% 
EUR currency currency 

EUR 74 931 046 74 931 046 77% 25 774 083 25 774 083 

GBP 8 615 220 11 738 156 12% 0 0 

SEK 92 140 026 10 026 664 10% 0 0 

PLN 3 926 182 920 796 1% 0 0 

Total 97 616 662 100% 25 774 083 

As at December 31, 2015, cash and cash equivalents are comprised of current accounts and 

short term deposits which include short term deposits under settlement of EUR 14 997 133. 

3.1.3 Debt securities and other fixed income securities - Profile of 

cou nterparties 

in% 

100% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

100% 

The following tables outline the credit quality of the Facility's debt securities and other fixed 

income securities (including accrued interest) as of 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015, 

based on external ratings and on the profile of issuers: 

31.12.2015 31.12.2014 
Rating 

FV in EUR in% FV in EUR in% 

Aaa 79314475 40% 32 903 091 34% 

Aal 23395913 12% 26 501 680 27% 

Aa2 55 850 055 28% 38 108 153 39% 

Aa3 4 006 028 2% 0 0% 

Al 24 759 719 12% 0 0% 

A2 12 308 624 6% 0 0% 

Total 199 634 814 100% 97 512 924 100% 
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Profile of issuers 

Public Institution 

Member State 

Supranational 

Covered Bonds 

Corporates 

Banks 

Total 

lnnovFin SME Guarantee (lnnovFin SMEG) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

31.12.2015 31.12.2014 

FVin EUR in% FVin EUR 

78 761 132 39% 51 716014 

27 180 962 14% 35 433 972 
10 348 291 5% 10 362 938 

48 246 067 24% 0 
14248767 7% 0 
20 849 595 10% 0 

199 634 814 100% 97 512 924 

3.2. Liquidity risk 

in% 

53% 

36% 

11% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

100% 

The liquidity risk is closely related to the Facility's solvency and to the confidence that creditors 

have in the Facility to meet its commitments. The treasury is managed in such a way as to ensure 

an adequate level of liquidity to meet possible guarantee calls. 

The table below provides an analysis of assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings on 

the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. It is presented 

under the most prudent consideration maturity dates. Therefore, in the case of liabilities the earliest 

possible repayment date is shown, while for assets it is the latest possible repayment date. 

Those assets and liabilities that do not have a contractual maturity date are grouped together in 

the "Undefined maturity" category. 
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lnnovFin SME Guarantee (lnnovFin SMEG) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

Less than 3 3 months to 1 year to 5 
Maturi!)'. {at 31.12.2015) months 1 }'.ear }'.Bars 

ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Current accounts 11 801 310 0 0 

Short-term deposits (including 
amounts under settlement) 82 619 529 0 0 

94 420 839 0 0 

Debt securities and other fixed income securities 9 999 758 16 337 568 160 969 142 

Other assets 5 0 0 

Total Assets 119 417 734 16 337 568 160 969 142 

LIABILITIES 

Other liabilities 8 453 036 0 0 

Total Liabilities 8 453 036 0 0 

Less than 3 3 months to 1 year to 5 
Maturi!)'. {at 31.12.2014) months 1 }'.Bar }'.Bars 

ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Current accounts 41 625 725 0 0 

Short term deposits 25 774 083 0 0 

67 399 808 0 0 

Debt securities and other fixed income securities 186 758 731 576 96 594 590 

Total Assets 67 586 566 731 576 96 594 590 

LIABILITIES 

Other liabilities 33 637 0 0 

Total Liabilities 33 637 0 0 
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More than 
5 }'.Bars Total 

0 11 801 310 

0 82 619 529 

0 94 420 839 

12 328 346 199 634 814 

0 5 

12 328 346 309 052 790 

0 8 453 036 

0 8 453 036 

More than 
5 }'.Bars Total 

0 41 625 725 

0 25 774 083 

0 67 399 808 

0 97 512 924 

0 164 912 732 

0 33 637 

0 33 637 



3.3. Market risk 

lnnovfin SME Guarantee (lnnovfin SMEG) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market prices. 

3.3.1 Market risk: Interest rate risk 

The interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value of future cash flow of financial instruments 

held by the Facility is influenced because of changes in the market interest rate. 

The following table shows the sensitivity of the two lnnovFin SMEG sub-portfolios (classification for 

Risk Management purpose): lnnovFin SMEG-FRN (AFS bond portfolio variable interest), lnnovFin 

SMEG-Long Term (AFS bond portfolio fixed interest) to interest rate (IR) variations: 

31.12.2015 

Market Value Modified IR exposure IR exposure IR exposure 

lnnovfin SMEG (clean prices) Duration (+/-1 bp) (+ lOObp) (-1 OObp) 

Sub-Portfolios in EUR (years) in EUR in EUR in EUR 

lnnovFin SMEG-Long Term 183 514 488 3.65 +/-67 318 -6 564 953 6 905 765 
Total 183 514 488 3.65 +/-67 318 -6 564 953 6 905 765 

31.12.2014 
Market Value Modified IR exposure IR exposure IR exposure 

lnnovfin SMEG (clean prices) Duration (+/-1 bp) (+ 1 OObp) (-1 OObp) 

Sub-Portfolios in EUR (years) in EUR in EUR in EUR 

lnnovFin SMEG-Long Term 96 594 590 3.54 -/+34 548 -3370481 +3 542 679 
Total 96 594 590 3.54 -/+34 548 -3 370 481 +3 542 679 

The clean market values of the lnnovFin SMEG -FRN and lnnovFin SMEG -Long term sub

portfolios as reported above represents the sum of clean market values calculated for inflation 

linked, fixed and floating rate bonds. Those clean market values are determined as follows: 

• Fixed Rate Bonds: the nominal value of each position is multiplied by its market quote as 
observed at valuation date. 

• Floating Rate Bonds (FRNs): the nominal value of each position is multiplied by its market 
quote as observed at valuation date. 
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lnnovFin SME Guarantee (lnnovFin SMEG) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

In regards to the interest rate sensitivity, the presentation in the financial statements and also the 

quarterly risk reporting prepared by EIB's Risk Management department follow the portfolio 

structure. There are three portfolios exist for the mandates: lnnovFin-FRN (floating rate bonds), 

lnnovFin-L (fixed rate bonds) and lnnovFin-S (short-term deposits and other short-term 

investments). The portfolio classification can be different than the accounting classification as 

certain short-term securities purchased in the S portfolio can be classified as AFS financial asset if 

their original maturity is more than 3 months. As a result in the above table, the book value 

presented includes AFS financial assets including those purchased to the lnnovFin-S portfolio while 

the interest rate sensitivity presents only the sensitivity of the lnnovFin-L portfolio. 

3.3.2 Market risk: Foreign currency risk 

The foreign currency risk relates to the risk that the future cash flow of the financial instruments 
held by the Facility will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The Facility's objective is to reduce exchange risk by fixing the EUR equivalent of a given 
guarantee operation in a tradable out-currency and by purchasing the tradable out-currency in the 
amount of the expected loss. 

Subtotal 
At 31.12.2015 EUR GBP SEK PLN CZK DKK except EUR Total 

ASSETS 

Current accounts 5 562 142 41 109 0 6 239 018 0 6 239 168 11 801 310 
Short term deposits 
(including amounts 
under settlement) 59933913 11738156 10026664 920 796 0 0 22 685 616 82 619 529 

65 496 055 11 738 197 10 026 773 920 796 6 239 018 0 28 924 784 94 420 839 

Debt securities and 
other fixed income 
securities 199 634 814 0 0 0 0 0 0 199 634 814 

Other assets 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 

T otol Assets 265 130 873 11 738 197 10 026 773 920 796 6 239 018 28 924 784 294 055 658 

LIABILITIES 

EU contribution 304 246 720 0 0 0 0 0 0 304 246 720 

Provision for risks and 
liabilities 15 417 578 110 082 4 824 094 0 622 013 3 234 279 8 790 468 24 208 046 

Other liabilities 8 453 036 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 453 036 

T otol liabilities 328 117 334 110 082 4 824 094 0 622 013 3 234 279 8 790 468 336 907 802 
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lnnovFin SME Guarantee (lnnovFin SMEG) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

3.4. Volume of the Facility 

Under the Facility, the Elf is empowered to issue guarantees in its own name but on behalf of and 

at the risk of the Commission. The amounts of guarantees drawn and undrawn are shown below: 

Guarantees signed on behalf of the Facility 

Amount of guarantees drawn 

Amount of guarantees undrawn 

Total guarantee amount 

2015 
EUR 

154 654 154 

l 560 154 925 

l 714 809 079 

2014 
EUR 

0 
267 156 460 

267 156 460 

The total guarantee amount disclosed above includes the Facility's exposure of EUR 78 086 250 
through the SME Initiative transactions and does not include the transactions, if any, which were 
signed before 31 December 2015, but for which the guarantee availability period starts in 2016. 

The European Fund for Strategic Investments (EFSI) is a joint initiative of the EC and the EIB Group 
under the Investment Plan for Europe. The purpose of EFSI is to help support financing and 
implementing productive investments in the European Union and to ensure increased access to 
financing. The table below summarises the amounts allocated to this initiative: 

EU Guarantee allocated to lnnovFin SMEG as at l January 

EU Guarantee allocated to lnnovFin SMEG as at 31 December 

Total SMEW Guaranteed Sums called with respect to lnnovFin SMEG 

Amount of SMEW Replenished Amount during the year for lnnovFin SMEG 

Any reduction in the SMEW EIB Covered Amount during the year, as a result of 
new contributions committed under lnnovFin SMEG 

20 

2015 
EUR 

0 
98 355 183 

0 
0 

0 



lnnovfin SME Guarantee (lnnovfin SMEG) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

4. Detailed disclosures relating to asset headings 

4.1. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 

2015 
EUR 

Cash at bank l l 801 310 

Short term deposits under settlement (14 997 133) 

Short term deposits 97 612 263 

Other cash equivalents 0 

Accrued interest on short term deposits 4 399 

Accrued interest on Other cash equivalents 0 

94 420 839 

4.2. Debt securities and other fixed income securities 

The facility's portfolio is only composed of EUR denominated bonds. 

2015 
EUR 

Available-for-sale portfolio 198514758 
Accrued interesfs l 120 056 

199 634 814 

Movement during the year: 

31.12.2015 
EUR 

Fair value at l January 97 512 924 

Additions 116 088 862 
Disposals/matured (13 272 547) 
Effective interest rate adjustment (l 256 916) 
Change in Fair value reserve 562 491 

Fair value at 31 December 199 634 814 

21 

2014 
EUR 

41 625 725 

0 

20 773 409 

4 999 750 

816 

108 

67 399 808 

2014 
EUR 

96 594 590 

918 334 

97 512 924 

31.12.2014 
EUR 

0 

96 667 477 

0 

609 225 

236 222 

97 512 924 



lnnovFin SME Guarantee (lnnovFin SMEG} 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

The total fair value recognized in equity at the end of 2015 and attributable to debt securities and 

other fixed income securities is EUR 562 491 (2014: EUR 236 222). 
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lnnovfin SME Guarantee (lnnovfin SMEG) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

5. Detailed disclosures relating to liabilities headings 

5.1. EU contribution 

The budgetary commitments of the Facility corresponds to the budgetary resources committed by 

the Commission for the financing of the Facility and amounts to: 

Aggregate budgetary commitments 

Uncalled budgetary commitments 

2015 
EUR 

312 714 939 
(8 468 219) 

304 246 720 

2014 
EUR 

168 614 939 

0 
168 614 939 

With regards to the total EU contribution paid, EUR 12 531 781 were allocated to the SME 
Initiative transactions for which the Facility is exposed through a mezzanine tranche. 

5.2. Provision for risks and liabilities 

The movements in the provision in respect of expected losses that may arise from the guarantee 

portfolio are divided into current (less than one year) and non-current (more than one year) 

provisions as set out below: 

Balance as at Guarantee Balance as 

Additions Reclassification calls I Time effect FX impact at 

31.12.2014 recoveries 31.12 .201S 

Current provision for 
risks and liabilities 223 311 9 162 13S 124 313 ( 162 77S) l 117 12 236 9 360 337 

Non-current provision 
for risks and liabilities 397 214 14 SSS 678 ( 124 313) 0 2 S83 16 S47 14 847 709 

Total provision for risks 
and liabilities 620 S2S 23 717 813 0 (16277Sl 3 700 28 783 24 208 046 

As per the table below, the total increase in prov1s1on recognized in the economic outturn for 

2015 is EUR 23 750 780. This amount is divided into the effective additional provision amounting 

to EUR 23 717 813 and an increase of the provision due to the effect of time amounting to 

EUR 3 700. In addition, an amount of EUR 28 783 has been recognized as a FX impact in the 

economic outturn. The provisions are annually reviewed and adjusted to reflect any variation of 

the pre-agreed obligations or any change in the net payment demands made by the financial 

intermediaries. 
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December 31, 2015 

5.3. Other liabilities 

Other liabilities include accruals and deferred income and are analysed as follows: 

2015 2014 
EUR EUR 

Administrative fees payable to EIF 6 774 908 0 

Treasury fees payable to EIB 241 968 33 637 

Incentive fees payable to EIF 1 436 160 0 

8 453 036 33 637 

Management fees payable to the EIF are calculated according to the applicable provisions set out 

in the Delegation Agreement and according to the note 6.2 and accrued at end of the year. 
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lnnovfin SME Guarantee (lnnovfin SMEG) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

6. Detailed disclosures relating to the Economic outturn account 

6.1. Interest income 

Interest income consists of: 

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents 

Net Interest income on Available-For Sale portfolio 

6.2. General administrative expenses 

2015 
EUR 

( l 174) 

398 984 

397 810 

2014 

EUR 

7 762 
53 902 

61 664 

The General administrative expenses are composed of Elf administrative fee, Elf policy-incentive 
fees together forming Elf performance fees, Elf risk fee. 

Elf Administrative Fee 

Elf administrative fees must not exceed 2.8% of the Horizon 2020 total contribution for the entire 
duration of the facility. On an annual basis, Elf is entitled to reserve and draw annually up to 
5.6% of the cumulated EU Contribution paid. The total of draws shall not exceed 2.8% of the EU 
Contribution paid according to Annex B - Article 13 of the Horizon 2020 Delegation Agreement 
signed on 12 June 2014. 

As an advance payment, a start-up fee may be drawn by Elf upon the signature of the Delegation 
Agreement for an amount of EUR 4 000 000 according to Annex B - Article 13 of the Horizon 
2020 Delegation Agreement signed on 12 June 2014. 

Elf Policy-related incentive fees 

Elf may reserve up to the highest of i) 3.2% of the cumulated EU Contribution paid and ii) the 
aggregate amount of the policy-related incentive fees due to Elf, but in any case not exceeding 
3.2% of the Initial EU Contribution as soon as the policy-related performance indicators and sub
indicators detailed in Annex Bl of the Delegation Agreement are reached and following a written 
request addressed to the EC. 

Elf Risk fees 

The Elf Risk Fees is being calculated quarterly as 125 basis points per annum of 80% of the 
(counter-) guaranteed part of the outstanding Facility's Transactions included in the Facility 
Portfolio as of the beginning of each calendar quarter and consisting of or covering (as 
applicable) non-defaulted Facility Final Recipient Transactions. 
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As at 31 December 2015, general administrative expenses comprise the following: 

Elf administrative fee 

Elf incentive fee 

Elf Risk fees 

6.3. Treasury management fees 

2015 
EUR 

7 496 126 

7 997 440 

37 696 

15 531 262 

2014 
EUR 

4 000 000 

0 
0 

4 000 000 

The management of assets entrusted to EIB by EC under the Facility is subject to, and in 
accordance with, the Treasury Guidelines for Asset Management of the Facility referred to in 
Annex SB of the Horizon 2020 Delegation Agreement dated 12 June 2014. 

EIB is entitled to a remuneration, in respect of the management of the Facility assets, for each 
period, on the basis of the following schedule: 

Average value of assets under Annual remuneration for 
management management (per tranche) 

Up to 200 000 000 0.10% 

From 200 000 001 to 400 000 000 0.07% 

From 400 000 001 to 600 000 000 0.04% 

From 600 000 001 0.02% 

The Bank's annual remuneration shall be invoiced in respect of each accounting period on the 
basis of the audited financial statements sent to EC. The remuneration shall be calculated by the 
EIB on the basis of a), in the case of securities and the Unitary Fund, the average market value at 
the end of each month, and b) in the case of cash and money market deposits, the average 
nominal value at the end of each month. 

As at 31 December 2015, treasury management fees amount to EUR 208 331 (2014: 
EUR 33 637). 

6.4. Foreign exchange gain/loss 

Foreign exchange gain amounting to EUR 51 981 mainly correspond to gains from transaction or 

cash positions in foreign currencies. As at 31 December 2014, the Facility had no currency 

exposure. 
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7. Other information 

7 .1 . Information relating to personnel employed and management 

The Facility employs no staff. 

7.2. Related party 

The amounts included in the Facility's financial statements and related to the Elf and the EIB are 

the followings: 

Current Liabilities 

Other liabilities 

Economic outturn account 

General administrative expenses 

Treasury management fees 

27 

2015 
EUR 

8 453 036 

15 531 262 
208 331 

2014 
EUR 

33 637 

4 000 000 
33 637 
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KPMG Luxembourg, Societe cooperative 
39. Avenue John F. Kennedy 
L-1855 Luxembourg 

To the Chief Executive of 
The European Investment Fund 
3713. avenue J.F. Kennedy 
L-2968 Luxembourg 

Tel.: +352 22 51 51 1 
Fax: +352 22 51 71 
Email: info@kpmg.lu 
Internet: www.kpmg.lu 

REPORT OF THE REVISEUR D,ENTREPIUSES AGREE 

We have audited the accompan) ing financial statements of Loan C1uarantec Facilil) 
(LGF) ( .. the Facility .. ) managed by lhe European Investment Fund on bchatr of the 
European Commission which comprise the balance sheet as at December 3 I. 20 IS and the 
economic outturn account. statement of changes in capital and cash tlm\ table f'l1r lhc )Car 
then ended. and a summary of significant accounting policies and other e:'l.planator) 
informalion. 

l:.:uropecm b11"es/111e111Fund's 1\/c111age111e111\rC!.\f10ll.\ihi/i1y,/iJI'1'1e/il/(111c:ial ste11e111e11/.\ 

The European Investment Fund's Management is responsible for 1hc preparation or these 
financial stalemcnls in accordance wilh the accounling rule" sci oul in note 2 lo lhc financial 
slatemenls relating to the preparation of !he financial slatcmenls. and for such internal control 
as lhc European Investment Fund' s Management determines is ncccssar) to enable lhc 
preparation of financial statements thal arc free from material misslalcmcnt. \\ hcthcr due lo 
fraud or error. 

Responsihility t?f the Re1·ise11r cl 'E111reprises agn:J 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial stalcmcnls based on our 
audit. We conducled our audil in accordance '' ith International Standards on Auditing as 
adopted for Luxembourg by lhe Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier. Those 
standards require !hat we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements arc free from material 
m isstatcmcnt. 

An audit involves performing procedures to ohlain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the judgement of 
the Rcviscur d' Enlrepriscs agree. including the assessmcnl or the risks of material 
misstatement or the financial statements. '' helher due to fraud or error. In making. those 
risk assessments. the Reviscur d" Entrcprises agree considers internal control rele\ anl to 
the entity's preparation of lhe financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
arc appropriate in the circumstances. but not li:'r lhc purpose of expressing an opinion on lhc 
effectiveness of the entit) ·s internal control. An audil also includes evaluating lhc 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by the European lnvcstmenl Fund's Management. as \\ell as C\ aluating !he m era II 
presentation or the financial statements. 

KPMG lu,c:rwouru. Soc-C!tQ COOPVilt •O .J Lu•embou·o t:nl tv .wJ ii TVA LU ?7351518 
mt.ornb<'t lnm cl !~c KP1,1G nu:wcr~. o! lf'd'!pe~t fTl(?mbc• f ·m!: ACS Lu~cmboutfJ B 1°\'JIJJ 
all 1!ed Wth ~Pf,1Q l":trrta!ICNI ~· ;u .~ l" KPf.'.(j lr'C:n.1tlOl'lJ ., 
.i S·.'Vl~~ en:;.,. 



We believe that the audit evidence \\ e hm c obtained is suflicient and appropriate to provide 
a basis fi.1r our audit opinion. 

< Jpi11io11 

In our opinion, the financial statements or Loan Guarantee Facilit) (LGF) lex the ~car ended 
December 31. 2015 arc prepared in all material respects in accordance with the accounting 
rules set out in note 2 to the financial statements. 

Basis r?f Ac:cm111ti11g a11d Restriction 011 Distribution 

Without modifying our opinion. \\C dnm attention to Note 2 to the financial statements. 
which describes the basis or accounting. The financial statements arc prepared to enable 
European Investment Fund to meet the requirements of the European Commission. As a 
result. the financial statements ma) not be suitable liJr another purpose. 

Our report is intended solely for the European Investment Fund and the European 
Commission and should not he distributed to parties other than the European Im estment 
Fund. the European Commission and the European Co1111 of Auditors. 

Luxembourg. March 15. 2016 KPMG Lu~emhourg 
Societe cooperative 
Cabinet de re\ i~ion agree 

.~===-
M. Tabart 



Loan Guarantee Facility (LGF} 
Economic outtum account for the year ended December 31, 2015 

From 

22 July 2014 to 

31 December 

Economic outtum account Notes 2015 2014 

EUR EUR 

Financial operations revenues 

Net interest income 6.1 114 080 1 135 

Foreign exchange gain 6.2 0 26 938 

Total financial operations revenues 114 080 28 073 

Financial operations expenses 

General administrative expenses 6.3 (12 689 620) (4 360 593) 

Provision for risks and liabilities 5.2 (30 946 184) 0 

Other operating charges ( 350) 0 

Foreign exchange loss 6.2 ( 423 864) 0 

Total financial o~erations ex~enses {44 060 018) {4 360 593} 

Economic result of the year/~eriod {43 945 938) {4 332 520} 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Loan Guarantee Facility (LGF) 
Balance Sheet as at December 31, 2015 

ASSETS Notes 2015 2014 
EUR EUR 

Current Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 4.1 125 491 000 39 322 903 

Other assets 49 0 

Total Current Assets 125 491 049 39 322 903 

Total Assets 125 491 049 39 322 903 

LIABILITIES 

Capital 

EU contribution 5.1 131 191 898 41 744 830 

Accumulated deficit (4 332 520) 0 

Economic result of the year/Eeriod (43 945 938) (4 332 520) 

Total Capital 82 913 440 37 412 310 

Current liabilities 

Provision for risks and liabilities 5.2 94 775 0 

Other liabilities 5.3 11 803 676 1 910 593 

Total Current liabilities 11 898 451 l 910 593 

Non Current liabilities 

Provision for risks and liabilities 5.2 30 679 158 0 

Total Non Current liabilities 30 679 158 0 

Total Liabilities 42 577 609 l 910593 

Total Capital and Liabilities 125 491 049 39 322 903 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Loan Guarantee Facility (LGF) 
Cash flow table for the year ended December 31, 2015 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Interest received 

Administration fee paid 

Incentive fee paid 

Treasury management fee paid 

Other operating charges 

Other assets 

Guarantee call paid 

Net cash flows from operating activities 

Cash flows from financing activities 

EU contribution received 

Net cash flows from financing activities 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial 

From 
22 July 2014 to 

31 December 
2015 2014 

EUR EUR 

( 293 621) 28 073 

(2 210 588) (2 450 000) 

( 750 000) 0 

( 4 194) 0 

( 16 520) 0 

( 49) 0 

( 3 999) 0 

(3 278 971) (2 421 927) 

89 447 068 41 744 830 

89 447 068 41 744 830 

86 168 097" 39 322 903 

39 322 903 0 

125 491 000 39 322 903 

Interest received includes also accruals (on cash and cash equivalents) and effect of the exchange 

rate. 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Loan Guarantee Facility (LGF) 
Statement of Changes in Capital as at December 31, 2015 

EU contribution Accumulated deficit 
Economic result of 

Total capital 
the year 

Balance as at 31. 12.2014 41 744 830 0 (4 332 520) 37412310 
Allocation of the Economic result of the period 20 l 4 0 (4 332 520) 4 332 520 0 

EU contribution 89 447 068 0 0 89 447 068 

Allocation of the Economic result of the year 2015 0 0 (43 945 938) (43 945 938) 

Balance as at 31.12.2015 131 191 898 (4 332 520) (43 945 938) 82 913 440 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1 . General section 

Loan Guarantee Facility (LGF) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

On 11 December 2013, regulation (EU) n° 1287/2013 of the European Parliament and the 
Council establishing a programme for the Competitiveness of Enterprises and small and medium
sized enterprises (COSME) (2014-2020) was adopted. 

Following this decision, the European Investment Fund (hereafter "Elf") and the European Union 
(hereafter "EU") represented by the European Commission (hereafter "EC") entered into a 
Delegation Agreement in respect of the Financial Instruments under COSME (the "Delegation 
Agreement"). The Programme of COSME provides the establishment of the Equity Facility for 
Growth and the establishment of the Loan Guarantee Facility (hereafter jointly the "COSME 
Financial Instruments"). The COSME Financial Instruments aim to improve access to finance for 
small and medium-sized enterprises ("SMEs") in the form of debt and equity exclusively. 

In the context of COSME Financial Instruments, the Loan Guarantee Facility (hereafter "LGF" or 
"the Facility") has been structured in the form of a direct and indirect guarantee financial 
instrument. The objective of LGF is to contribute to the reduction of the structural shortcoming of 
the SME financing market and to support the creation of a more diversified SME finance market. 
Through direct and indirect guarantees, LGF aims to guarantee debt financing which addresses 
the particular difficulties that viable SMEs face in accessing finance, either due to their perceived 
higher risk or due to their lack of sufficient available collateral. Furthermore, by guaranteeing the 
mezzanine tranche of eligible and transparent securitisation transactions, the LGF aims to provide 
new avenues of financing for SMEs. 

The Elf's Management has authorized the financial statements for issue on 15 March 2016. 

The financial year of the Facility runs from 1st January to 31st December each year except for the 
first year started from 22"d July to 31st December 2014. 
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Loan Guarantee Facility (LGF) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set 
out below. 

2.1 . Basis of preparation 

The accounts are kept in accordance with Council Regulation (EC, Euratom) No 966/2012 of the 
European Parliament and of the Council of 25 October 2012 (OJ L 298 of 26 October 2012) on 
the Financial Regulation applicable to the general budget of the Union and Commission 
Regulation (EU) No 1268/2012 of 29 October 2012 on the rules of application of the Financial 
Regulation . 

In accordance with article 144 of the Financial Regulation the financial statements have been 
prepared on the basis of accrual-based accounting rules that are derived from International Public 
Sector Standards (IPSAS) or by default, International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS). These 
accounting rules, adopted by the Accounting Officer of the Commission have to be applied by all 
the institutions and EU bodies in order to establish a uniform set of rules for accounting, valuation 
and presentation of the accounts with a view to harmonise the process for drawing up the financial 
statements. 

The Facility has consistently applied the policies set out below to the year 2015. 

2.2. Significant accounting judgments and estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the accounting rules adopted by the 

Accounting Officer of the European Commission requires the use of certain critical accounting 

estimates. It also requires the European Investment Fund's Management ("the Management") to 

exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Facility's accounting policies . The areas 

involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 

are significant to the financial statements are disclosed hereafter. 

The most significant use of judgements and estimates are as follows: 

• Provisions for risks and liabilities 

According to the accounting rules established by the Accounting Officer of the European 

Commission and in particular the accounting rule on "Provisions, contingent assets and liabilities", 

a provision should be established on the face of the balance sheet when the following three 

conditions are met: 

• A present obligation exists as a result of a past event; 

• The likelihood of an outflow of resources is higher than 50%; and 

• A reliable estimate is possible. 
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Loan Guarantee Facility (LGF) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

The Facility is based on a portfolio first-loss piece approach and the facility therefore reviews its 

exposure to the first loss piece of the financial guarantees issued by European Investment Fund at 

each reporting date to assess whether a provision for risks and liabilities should be recorded in the 

economic outturn account. In particular, judgment by the Management is required in the 

estimation and timing of future cash flows when determining the level of provision is required. 

2.3. Foreign currencies 

The Facility uses the Euro (EUR) for presenting its financial statements, which is also the functional 
currency. 

Foreign currency transactions are translated at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the 
transaction. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than Euro are translated into Euro 
at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date. The gain or loss arising from such 
translation is recorded in the economic outturn account. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date 
when the fair value was determined. 

Exchange differences on non-monetary assets are a component of the change in their fair value. 
Depending on the classification of a non-monetary financial asset, exchange differences are either 
recognised in the economic outturn account or within the reserves. 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of transactions at rates different from those at the 
date of the transaction, and unrealised foreign exchange differences on unsettled foreign currency 
monetary assets and liabilities, are recognised in the economic outturn account. 

The elements of the economic outturn account are translated into Euro on the basis of the 
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each month. 

2.4. Cash and cash equivalents 

The Facility defines cash and cash equivalents as current accounts, and short-term deposits with 

original maturities of three months or less. 

2.5. Other assets 

Other assets include prepayments and accrued income; expenses related to subsequent financial 
years but which are paid and accounted for during the current year, as well as income relating to 
the current year, which will be received in subsequent years. 

The interest accruals on term deposits have been included in the carrying amount of the financial 
assets. 
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2.6. EU contribution 

Loan Guarantee Facility (LGF) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

The contributions received from the European Commission (hereafter "EC") are recognised in the 
balance sheet on the date when payments are received or made. 

2.7. Other liabilities 

Accruals represent charges related to the current financial year but which have. not yet been paid 
and deferred income represent income received in the current financial year which is, however, 
related to a subsequent financial year. 

2.8. Interest income 

Interest income and interest charges are recorded on an accrual basis. 

2. 9. Taxation 

The Protocol on the Privileges and Immunities of the European Communities, appended to the 

Treaty of 8 April 1965 establishing a Single Council and a Single Commission of the European 

Communities, stipulates that the assets, revenues and other property of the Institutions of the Union 

are exempt from all direct taxes. 

2.10 Accounting estimates and judgements 

According to the EC Accounting Rules (AR) and in particular the AR on "Provisions, contingent 
assets and liabilities", a provision should be established on the face of the balance sheet when the 
following three conditions are met: a present obligation exists as a result of a past event, the 
likelihood of an outflow of resources is higher than 50% and a reliable estimate is possible. 

The Facility is based on a portfolio first-loss piece approach. 

The financial risk of the Facility for the drawn and undrawn guarantees is capped. The expected 
loss estimated for each guarantee operation is recognised as the provision and is subsequently 
reduced by the payment demands made by financial intermediaries. It corresponds to the 
provision of the Facility. 

In order to reflect the time values of money, the provisions are distributed over the life of the 

guarantee and are discounted using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 

time value of money. 
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Loan Guarantee Facility (LGF) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December31, 2015 

3. Financial risk management 

The Risk Management function of Elf ensures that the portfolio is managed in line with the agreed 

asset management guidelines, especially in respect of the eligible investments in the Facility's 

portfolio, the average maturity, the interest rate risk and the credit risk exposure of the Facility's 

portfolio. In this respect quarterly reporting is also delivered to the EC concerning the risk and the 

performance of the Facility's portfolio. The reporting makes reference to breaches, if any, of the 

limits set out in the Facility Agreement and includes a comparison of the valuations of the portfolio 

to a performance index taken _as benchmark. 

3.1 . Credit risk 

c;:redit risk is the risk that another party will cause a financial loss to the Facility by failing to 

discharge an obligation. The Elf uses appropriate instruments, policies, and processes to manage 

the credit risk of the Facility. 

In accordance with the AMG, all interbank investments should have a minimum Moody's credit 

rating of P-1 or equivalent (Fitch: Fl or Fl+). 

3.1.1 Current accounts - Profile of counterparties 

The following table shows the breakdown of current account balances per short-term counterparty 

rating: 

31.12.2015 31.12.2014 
Rating 

Balance in currency 
Converted to in% Balance in currency 

Converted to 
EUR EUR 

P-1 EUR 4 645 285 4 645 285 31.3% EUR 9 497 324 9 497 324 

P-1 BGN 7 999 953 4 090 374 27.6% BGN 0 0 

P-1 CZK 155 000 000 5 735 855 38.7% CZK 0 0 

P-1 GBP 207 663 282 939 1.9% GBP 0 0 

P-1 PLN 75 812 17 780 0.1% PLN 0 0 

P-1 RON 266 124 58 825 0.4% RON 0 0 

Total 14 831 058 100% 9 497 324 
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Loan Guarantee Facility (LGF) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

3.1.2. Short term deposits with a maturify of 3 months or less - Profile of 

counterparties 

The following table shows the breakdown of short term deposits including accrued interest with 

maturity less than 3 months per counterparty short term rating (eligible short term rating P-1 ): 

31.12.2015 31.12.2014 

Rating Nominal deposits in 
Converted to 

Nominal deposits in 
Converted to 

EUR including in% EUR including 
currency 

interest 
currency 

interest 

P-1 EUR 81494019 81494019 73 .6% EUR 27 000 000 27 000 502 

P-1 DKK 26 979 525 3 615 298 3.3% DKK 0 0 
P-1 GBP 3 000 671 4 088 386 3.7% GBP 2 200 000 2 825 077 

P-1 HUF 750 568 750 2 375 368 2.1% HUF 0 0 

P-1 PLN 69 127 874 16 212 358 14.7% PLN 0 0 

P- 1 RON 13 004 297 2874513 2.6% RON 0 0 

Total 110 659 942 100% 29 825 579 

3.2. Liquidity risk 

The liquidity risk is closely related to the Facility's solvency and to the confidence that creditors 

have in the Facility to meet its commitments. The treasury is managed in such a way as to ensure 

an adequate level of liquidity to meet possible guarantee calls . 

The table below provides an analysis of assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings on 

the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. It is presented 

under the most prudent consideration maturity dates. Therefore, in the case of liabilities the earliest 

possible repayment date is shown, while for assets it is the latest possible repayment date. 

Those assets and liabilities that do not have a contractual maturity date are grouped together in 

the "Undefined maturity" category. 
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Maturity {at 31 . 12.2015) 
ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Current accounts 

Short term deposits 

Other assets 

Total Assets 

LIABILITIES 
Other liabilities 

Provision for risk and liabilities 

Total Liabilities 

Maturity (at 31.12.2014) 
ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Current accounts 

Short term deposits 

Total Assets 

LIABILITIES 
Other liabilities 

Total Liabilities 

3.3. Market risk 

Loan Guarantee Facility (LGF) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

Less than 3 3 months to More than 5 
months 1 year 1 to 5 years years 

14 831 058 
110 659 942 
125 491 000 

49 
125 491 049 

11803676 

0 

11 803 676 

Less than 3 
months 

9 497 324 
29 825 579 
39 322 903 

39 322 903 

1 910 593 

1910593 

0 
0 
0 

0 
0 

0 

94 775 

94 775 

3 months to 
1 year 

0 
0 
0 

0 

0 

0 

0 
0 
0 

0 
0 

0 

24 766 516 

24 766 516 

1 to 5 years 

0 
0 
0 

0 

0 

0 

0 
0 
0 

0 
0 

0 

5 912 642 

5 912 642 

More than 5 
years 

0 
0 
0 

0 

0 

0 

Total 

14 831 058 
110 659 942 
125 491 000 

49 
125 491 049 

11 803 676 

30 773 933 

42 577 609 

Total 

9 497 324 
29 825 579 
39 322 903 

39 322 903 

1910593 

1910593 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market prices. 

3.3.1 Market risk: Interest rate risk 

The interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value of future cash flow of financial instruments 

held by the Facil ity is influenced because of changes in the market interest rate. 

In accordance with the agreement between the Commission and the EIF on the management of 

the Facility Treasury Funds, investment decisions are based on the interest rates available in the 

market at the time of the investment. Interest rate expectations are not taken into account. No 

significant risk is currently taken on interest rate due to the short term maturity of term deposits. 
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As at year end 2015, the average interest rate for the deposits is in EUR 0.03%, in DKK 0.7%, in 

GBP 0.5%, in HUF 0.7%, in PLN 1.02% and in RON 0.4%. 

3.3.2 Market risk: Foreign currency risk 

The foreign currency risk relates to the risk that the future cash flow of the financial instruments 
held by the Facility will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The Facility's objective is to reduce exchange risk by fixing the EUR equivalent of a given 
guarantee operation in a tradable out-currency and by purchasing the tradable out-currency in the 
amount of the guarantee cap. 

The following table shows the foreign exchange position of the Facility: 

Subtotal 
At 31.12.2015 EUR BGN CZK DKK GBP HUF PLN RON exceet EUR Total 

ASSETS 

Cosh end cosh 
equivalents 86 139 304 4 090 374 5 735 855 3 615 298 4 371 325 2 375 368 16230138 2 933 338 39 351 696 125 491 000 

Other ossets 25 24 24 49 
Total Assets 86 139 329 4 090 398 5 735 855 3 615 298 4 371 325 2 375 368 16230138 2 933 338 39 351 720 125 491 049 

LIABILmES 

EU contrrbution 131 191 898 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 131 191 898 

Provision for 
risk end 
liabilities 27 223 935 31 852 1 217 291 0 2195607 0 0 105 248 3 549 998 30 773 933 

Other liabilities 11 645 589 0 0 0 158 087 0 0 0 158 087 11 803 676 

Total liabilities 170 061 422 31 852 1217291 0 2 353 694 0 0 105 248 3 708 085 173 769 507 

Subtotal 
At 31.12.2014 EUR BGN CZK DKK GBP HUF PLN RON exceet EUR Total 

ASSETS 

Cosh end cosh 
equivalents 36 497 826 0 0 0 2 825 077 0 0 0 2 825 077 39 322 903 

Total Assets 36 497 826 0 0 0 2 825 077 0 0 0 2 825 077 39 322 903 

LIABILmES 

EU contribution 41 744830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 41 744 830 

Other liabilities 1 910593 ·O 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 910593 

Total liabilities 43 655 423 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 43 655 423 
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3.4. Volume of the Facility 

As the guarantee volume is considerably higher than the guarantee cap, there is a significant 

gearing effect. In 2015 the amount of signed guarantees (drawn and undrawn) was approximately 

12 times the guarantee cap (2014: 9 times). The cap amount of the actual included amounts in 

the portfolio represents 11 % of the total guarantee cap (2014: 0%). . 

Under the Facility, the EIF is empowered to issue guarantees in its own name but on behalf of and 

at the risk of the Commission. The amounts of guarantees drawn and undrawn are shown below: 

2015 
EUR 

2014 
EUR 

Guarantees signed on behalf of the Facility 

-Drawn 

-Un drawn 

Total guarantee amount 

Total guarantee cap 

Gearing effect 

320 074 631 

2 604 046 256 

2 924 120 887 
243 500 098 

12 

0 
395 677 237 

395 677 237 
42 399 496 

9 

The European Fund for Strategic Investments (EFSI) is a joint initiative of the EC and the EIB Group 
under the Investment Plan for Europe. The purpose of EFSI is to help support financing and 
implementing productive investments in the European Union and to ensure increased access to 
financing. 

The table below summarises the amounts allocated to this initiative: 

EU Guarantee allocated to COSME LGF as at l January 

EU Guarantee allocated to COSME LGF as at 31 December 

Total SMEW Guaranteed sums called with respect to COSME LGF 

Amount of SMEW Replenished Amount during the year for COSME LGF 

Any reduction in the SMEW EIB Covered Amount during the year, as a 
result of new contributions committed under COSME LGF 
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2015 
EUR 

0 
53 670 328 

0 

0 

0 



Loan Guarantee Facility (LGF) 
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December 31, 2015 

4. Detailed disclosures relating to asset headings 

4.1. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are analysed as follows: 

2015 
EUR 

Cash at bank 14 831 058 

Short term deposits 110 648 552 

Accrued interest on short term deposits 11 390 

125 491 000 

At year end, the deposits have an average maturity of 67 days (2014: 70 days). 
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2014 
EUR 

9 497 324 

29 824 496 

1 083 

39 322 903 
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5. Detailed disclosures relating to liabilities headings 

5.1 . EU contribution 

The budgetary commitments of the Facility corresponds to the budgetary resources committed by 

the Commission for the financing of the Facility and amounts to: 

Aggregate budgetary commitments 

Uncalled budgetary commitments 

Balance at the end of the year/period 

5.2. Provision for risks and liabilities 

2015 
EUR 

237 635 125 

(106 443 227) 

131 191 898 

2014 
EUR 

89 129 526 

(47 384 696) 

41 744 830 

The provision of the Facility corresponds to the cap amount of the actual included amounts in the 

portfolio and subsequently reduced by the payment demands made by the financial intermediaries 

up to December 31, 2015. 

The movements in the provision in respect of expected losses that may arise from the guarantee 

portfolio are divided into current (less than one year) and non-current (more than one year) 

provisions as set out below: 

Balance as at Guarantee Balance as at 
Additions 

calls 
FXimpad 

31.12.2014 31.12.2015 

Current provision for risks 
and liabilities 0 277 714 ( 172 251) ( 10 688) 94 775 

Non-current provision for 
risks and liabilities 0 30 679 158 0 0 30 679 158 

Total provision for risks and 
liabilities 0 30 956 872 (172251) ( 10 688) 30 773 933 

As per the table above, the total increase in provision recognized in the economic outturn for 

2015 is EUR 30 956 872 (2014: EUR 0). An amount of EUR (10 688) has been recognized as a 

FX impact in the economic outturn. The provisions are annually reviewed and adjusted to reflect 

any variation of the pre-agreed obligations or any change in the net payment demands made by 

the financial intermediaries. 
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5.3. Other liabilities 

Loan Guarantee Facility (LGF) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December31, 2015 

Other liabilities are composed of: 

2015 
EUR 

Treasury management fees 75 955 

Incentive fee 7 400 000 

Due to financial intermediaries 168 244 

Administrative expenses 4159477 

11 803 676 

2014 
EUR 

0 

1 200 000 

0 

710 593 

1 910593 

Other liabilities due to financial intermediaries represent guarantee calls from financial 

intermediaries received by the Elf on the name of the Facility prior to December 31, 2015 and 

payable in the following year. 
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6. Detailed disclosures relating to the Economic outturn account 

6.1 . Net interest income 

Net interest income is composed of: 

Negative interest on short term deposits 

Interest income on short term deposits 

6.2 Foreign exchange gain/loss 

2015 
EUR 

( 27 472) 

141 552 

114 080 

2014 
EUR 

0 
1 135 

1 135 

Foreign exchange loss amounting to EUR ( 423 864) mainly correspond to losses from transaction 

or cash positions in foreign currencies (2014: gain of EUR 26 938). 

6.3 General administrative expenses 

The general administrative expenses are composed of Elf administrative fee, a fee in consideration 

of the financial management by the Elf of the EU contribution paid and additional incentive fees 

which serve to ensure the achievement of policy objectives. 

Elf administrative and incentive fee 

According to the Delegation Agreement, the Elf is entitled to receive administrative and incentive 

fee, which shall be capped at 6% of the EU Contribution committed during the period from 2014 

to 2020. 

Elf administrative fees shall not exceed 2.8% of the EU contribution committed for the LGF during 

the period from 2014 to 2020. 

Elf administrative fee is composed of a start-up fee foreseen for 2014 and 2015 and amounting 

respectively to EUR 2 450 000 and EUR 1 500 000, a signature fees representing 1.5% of 

operations signed and a yearly monitoring fee. 

Elf additional incentive fee are due to the Elf based on the deployment of the Facility and 

depending of reaching certain objectives by the Elf. 

As at 31 December 2015, general administrative expenses comprise of EUR 1 500 000 Elf start

up fee, EUR 3 484 472 signature fee and EUR 675 000 monitoring fee. 
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Elf treasury management fee 

Loan Guarantee Facility (LGF) 
Notes to the financial statements 

December 31, 2015 

For each period, Elf is entitled to receive a treasury management fee, which shall not exceed 
0.5% of the EU contribution committed, and shall be based on the following schedule: 

Average val!,!e of assets under Annual remuneration for 
management management (per tranche) 

Up to 200 000 000 0.10% 

From 200 000 001 to 400 000 000 0.07% 

From 400 000 001 to 600 000 000 0.04% 

From 600 000 001 0.02% 

The Elf's annual remuneration shall be invoiced in respect of each accounting period on the basis 

of the audited financial statements sent to EC. The remuneration shall be calculated by the Elf on 

the basis of a), in the case of securities and the Unitary Fund, the average market value at the end 

of each month, and b) in the case of cash and money market deposits, the average nominal value 

at the end of each month. 

Management costs 

In accordance with the Delegation Agreement and on a yearly basis, the Elf shall submit to the EC 

an overview of all management costs it deems eligible with the relevant supporting documentation 

to claim the reimbursement of such costs. 

The management costs shall not exceed 0.50% of the EU Contribution committed for the the 

Facility during the period from 2014 to 2020. 

A statement of fees and management costs covering the period from 1st January to 31 December 

of the previous calendar year shall be provided by the Elf no later than 15 February of each year. 

As at 31 December 2015, general administrative expenses comprise the following: 

2015 2014 
EUR EUR 

Elf administrative fee 5 659 472 3 160 593 

Elf incentive fee 6 950 000 1 200 000 

Elf treasury fee 80 148 

12 689 620 4 360 593 
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7. Other information 

7.1. Information relating to personnel employed and management 

The Facility employs no staff. 

7.2. Related party 

The amounts included in the Facility's financial statements and related to the EIF are the 

followings: 

Current Liabilities 

Other liabilities 

Economic outturn account 

General administrative expenses 

22 

2015 
EUR 

11 635 432 

12 689 6.20 

2014 
EUR 

1 910 593 

4 360 593 
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